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With the Supervisory Board's approval, the Executive Board 
may use the repurchased shares as (partial) consideration 
in connection with company mergers or in order to acquire 
enterprises, equity interests in enterprises, divisions of 
enterprises or other business assets, or in order to sell the 
shares on the stock exchange at a price that is not materially 
below the market price of the Company's shares at the  
time of the sale. The Executive Board may also use the 
repurchased shares in order to fulfil the obligations under 
any plans for share-based payment in favour of members 
of management, other executives and the self-employed 
sales agents of OVB Holding AG and its domestic and foreign 
subsidiaries (within the meaning of Sections 15 et seq. AktG).

The Executive Board may also, with the Supervisory 
Board's approval, retire the repurchased shares without re-
quiring another resolution of the Annual General Meeting. 

The Executive Board may elect to retire only a part of 
the acquired shares; the authorisation to retire shares may 
be exercised more than once. 

The retirement of shares may be executed in such a 
way that the share capital does not change; rather the 
interest in the share capital represented by the remaining 
shares is increased. 

The shareholders’ rights to subscribe to the Company’s 
treasury shares are excluded, provided such shares are used 
in accordance with the authorisations described above.

Change of control

Public bids to acquire shares in the Company are governed 
exclusively by law and the Articles of Association, including 

the provisions of the German Securities Acquisition and 
Takeover Act (WpÜG). The Annual General Meeting has not 
authorised the Executive Board to take actions falling within 
the shareholders' powers so as to prevent any successful 
takeover bids.

The Company has not entered into any compensation 
agreements with the members of the Executive Board in 
the event of a takeover bid.

Statement of the Executive Board 
pursuant to Section 312 AktG

For each reportable business transaction or measure, the 
Company has received appropriate consideration according 
to the circumstances known to the Company at the time of 
the respective transaction or measure.

Responsibility statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the 
applicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of the Group, and the 
consolidated management report includes a fair review of 
the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group, together with a description of the 
principal opportunities and risks associated with the ex-
pected development of the Group. 

Cologne, 26 February 2014 

Mario Freis
CSO

Oskar Heitz
CFO and COO

Michael Rentmeister
CEO
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“ With my investment in OVB I participate in a business model with 
a unique international orientation and an ideal balance between 
opportunity and risk.”

“ With OVB as a strong and transparent partner I am on the safe side: 
I continuously receive information on the Company of the highest 
international order.”

“ Financial advice continues to be a growth market. I want to invest 
in a sustainable company in this industry: That is why there is no 
alternative to OVB.”

“What does it mean for me 
to be a shareholder of OVB?”
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Consolidated statement of financial position
of OVB Holding AG as of 31 December 2013 according to IFRS

Assets	

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012
A. 	 Non-current assets

1 	 Intangible assets 10,143 10,619

2 	 Tangible assets 5,011 4,483

3 	 Investment property 580 586

4 	 Financial assets 397 397

5 	 Deferred tax assets      5,151 5,897

21,282 21,982

B.	 Current assets

6 	 Trade receivables 21,644 23,976

7 	 Receivables and other assets 28,177 30,285

8 	 Income tax receivables 2,296 2,402

9 	 Securities and other investments 34,961 39,236

10 	 Cash and cash equivalents 38,370 35,726

125,448 131,625

Total assets 146,730 153,607

 
Equity and liabilities	

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012
A.	 Equity

11 	 Subscribed capital 14,251 14,251

12 	 Capital reserve 39,342 39,342

13 	 Treasury shares 0 0

14 	 Revenue reserves 13,785 13,646

15 	 Other reserves 1) 865 1,385

16 	 Non-controlling interests 152 150

17 	 Retained earnings 1) 14,647 14,603

83,042 83,377

B.	 Non-current liabilities

18 	 Liabilities to banks 241 287

19 	 Provisions 1,407 1,351

20 	 Other liabilities 87 46

21 	 Deferred tax liabilities 105 175

1,840 1,859

C.	 Current liabilities

22 	 Provisions for taxes 1,405 3,277

23 	 Other provisions 26,021 29,525

24 	 Income tax liabilities 306 61

25 	 Trade payables 6,724 6,799

26 	 Other liabilities 27,392 28,709

61,848 68,371

Total equity and liabilities 146,730 153,607

Note

Consolidated Financial Statements 2013

Consolidated statement of financial position

1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised 
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Consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Consolidated income statement
of OVB Holding AG for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013 according to IFRS

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
of OVB Holding AG for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013 according to IFRS

in EUR’000 2013 2012

27 Brokerage income 187,581 194,465

28 Other operating income 8,658 9,030

Total income 196,239 203,495

29 Brokerage expenses -121,826 -128,813

30 Personnel expenses 1) -25,549 -24,316

31 Depreciation and amortisation -2,870 -3,180

32 Other operating expenses -35,786 -36,494

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 1) 10,208 10,692

Finance income 1,136 1,752

Finance expenses -199 -381

33 Financial result 937 1,371

Consolidated income before income tax 1) 11,145 12,063

34 Taxes on income 1) -3,122 -3,789

35 Consolidated net income 1) 8,023 8,274

36 Non-controlling interests -2 -12

37 Consolidated net income after non-controlling interests 1)	 8,021 8,262

38 Basic earnings per share in Euro 1) 0.56 0.58

Note

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Consolidated net income 1) 8,023 8,274

Revaluation effect from provisions for pensions 1) -43 -147

Deferred tax due to revaluation effect from provisions for pensions 1) 11 42

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified  
to the income statement

 
-32

 
-106

Change in revaluation reserve -166 29

Change in deferred taxes on 
unrealised gains and losses from investments

 
28

 
-9

Change in currency translation reserve -351 117

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified  
to the income statement

 
-489

 
137

Non-controlling interest in total comprehensive income -2 -12

Total comprehensive income 1) 7,500 8,293

1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised 

1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
of OVB Holding AG for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013 according to IFRS

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Calculation of cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents

 
38,370

 
35,726

Consolidated net income (before non-controlling interests) 1) 8,023 8,274

-/+ Increase/decrease in non-controlling interests -2 -12

+/- Depreciation, amortisation and impairment / Appreciation in value and reversal  
of impairment loss of non-current assets 

 
2,857

 
3,155

-/+ Unrealised currency gains/losses 569 -443

+/- Increase in/reversal of provision for impairment of receivables 3,328 3,366

-/+ Increase/decrease in deferred tax assets 746 238

+/- Increase/decrease in deferred tax liabilities -70 -106

- Other finance income -189 -358

- Interest income -946 -1,394

+/- Increase/decrease in provisions -5,320 2,707

+/- Increase/decrease of unrealised gains/losses in equity (net) 1) -169 -85

+/- �Expenses/income from the disposal of intangible and tangible assets (net) -19 21

+/- �Decrease/increase in trade receivables and other assets 1,219 -12,975

+/- �Increase/decrease in trade payables and other liabilities -1,106 205

= Cash flow from operating activities 8,921 2,593

+ Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment and tangible assets 94 85

+ Proceeds from the disposal of financial assets 226 457

- Purchases of tangible assets -1,892 -954

- Purchases of intangible non-current assets -1,234 -1,014

- Purchases of financial assets -243 -469

+/- �Decrease/increase in securities and other short-term investments 4,275 -919

+ Other finance income 188 358

+ Interest received 946 1,395

= Cash flow from investing activities 2,360 -1,061

- �Payments to the company’s owners and non-controlling interests 
(dividends, equity repayments, other payments)

 
-7,838

 
-4,988

+/- Increase/decrease in non-controlling interests 2 12

+ �Proceeds from the issue of bonds and taking out (financial) loans -46 -54

= Cash flow from financing activities -7,882 -5,030

Overview:

	 Cash flow from operating activities 8,921 2,593

	 Cash flow from investing activities 2,360 -1,061

	 Cash flow from financing activities -7,882 -5,030

= Net change in cash and cash equivalents 3,399 -3,498

	 Exchange gains/losses on cash and cash equivalents -755 503

+	Cash and cash equivalents at end of the prior year 35,726 38,721

= Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 38,370 35,726

	 Income tax paid 4,571 4,380

	 Interest paid 45 58

1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

OVB Holding AG

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
of OVB Holding AG as of 31 December 2013 according to IFRS

of OVB Holding AG as of 31 December 2012 according to IFRS

in EUR’000
Subscribed 

capital
Capital 
reserve

Retained  
profits 

brought 
forward

Statutory 
reserve

Other 
revenue 
reserves

Available-for- 
sale reserve/ 

revaluation reserve

Reserve  
from provisions  

for pensions

Deferred 
taxes on 

unrealised 
gains/losses

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Net income 
recognised 

directly 
in equity

Net income 
for the period

Total 
comprehensive 

income

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

Balance as at 31/12/2011 (old) 14,251 39,342 7,138 2,649 10,997 320 -56 1,122 4,159 138 80,060

Change in  
accounting principles1) 32 -69 37

Balance as at 31/12/2011 (new) 14,251 39,342 7,170 2,649 10,997 320 -69 -19 1,122 4,159 138 80,060

Consolidated profit 4,159 -4,159

Treasury shares

Corporate actions

Dividends paid -4,988 -4,988

Change in 
available-for-sale reserve 29 -9 20 20 20

Transfer to other reserves

Change in currency 
translation reserve 117 117 117 117

Revaluation effect from  
provisions for pensions -147 42 -106 -106 -106

Consolidated net income 8,262 8,262 12 8,274

Balance as at 31/12/2012 14,251 39,342 6,341 2,649 10,997 349 -216 14 1,239 30 8,262 8,293 150 83,377

in EUR’000
Subscribed 

capital
Capital 
reserve

Retained  
profits 

brought 
forward

Statutory 
reserve

Other 
revenue 
reserves

Available-for- 
sale reserve/ 

revaluation reserve

Reserve  
from provisions  

for pensions

Deferred 
taxes on 

unrealised 
gains/losses

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Net income 
recognised 

directly 
in equity

Net income 
for the period

Total 
comprehensive 

income

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

Balance as at 31/12/2012 (old) 14,251 39,342 6,309 2,649 10,997 349 -65 1,239 8,156 150 83,377

Change in  
accounting principles1) 32 -216 79 106

Balance as at 31/12/2012 (new) 14,251 39,342 6,341 2,649 10,997 349 -216 14 1,239 8,262 150 83,377

Consolidated profit 8,262 -8262

Treasury shares

Corporate actions

Dividends paid -7,838 -7,838

Change in 
available-for-sale reserve -166 28 -138 -138 -138

Transfer to other reserves -139 4 135

Change in currency 
translation reserve -351 -351 -351 -351

Revaluation effect from  
provisions for pensions -43 11 -32 -32 -32

Consolidated net income 8,021 8,021 2 8,023

Balance as at 31/12/2013 14,251 39,342 6,626 2,653 11,132 183 -259 53 888 -521 8,021 7,500 152 83,042

1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised 

1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised  



41

OVB Holding AG

in EUR’000
Subscribed 

capital
Capital 
reserve

Retained  
profits 

brought 
forward

Statutory 
reserve

Other 
revenue 
reserves

Available-for- 
sale reserve/ 

revaluation reserve

Reserve  
from provisions  

for pensions

Deferred 
taxes on 

unrealised 
gains/losses

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Net income 
recognised 

directly 
in equity

Net income 
for the period

Total 
comprehensive 

income

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

Balance as at 31/12/2011 (old) 14,251 39,342 7,138 2,649 10,997 320 -56 1,122 4,159 138 80,060

Change in  
accounting principles1) 32 -69 37

Balance as at 31/12/2011 (new) 14,251 39,342 7,170 2,649 10,997 320 -69 -19 1,122 4,159 138 80,060

Consolidated profit 4,159 -4,159

Treasury shares

Corporate actions

Dividends paid -4,988 -4,988

Change in 
available-for-sale reserve 29 -9 20 20 20

Transfer to other reserves

Change in currency 
translation reserve 117 117 117 117

Revaluation effect from  
provisions for pensions -147 42 -106 -106 -106

Consolidated net income 8,262 8,262 12 8,274

Balance as at 31/12/2012 14,251 39,342 6,341 2,649 10,997 349 -216 14 1,239 30 8,262 8,293 150 83,377

in EUR’000
Subscribed 

capital
Capital 
reserve

Retained  
profits 

brought 
forward

Statutory 
reserve

Other 
revenue 
reserves

Available-for- 
sale reserve/ 

revaluation reserve

Reserve  
from provisions  

for pensions

Deferred 
taxes on 

unrealised 
gains/losses

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Net income 
recognised 

directly 
in equity

Net income 
for the period

Total 
comprehensive 

income

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

Balance as at 31/12/2012 (old) 14,251 39,342 6,309 2,649 10,997 349 -65 1,239 8,156 150 83,377

Change in  
accounting principles1) 32 -216 79 106

Balance as at 31/12/2012 (new) 14,251 39,342 6,341 2,649 10,997 349 -216 14 1,239 8,262 150 83,377

Consolidated profit 8,262 -8262

Treasury shares

Corporate actions

Dividends paid -7,838 -7,838

Change in 
available-for-sale reserve -166 28 -138 -138 -138

Transfer to other reserves -139 4 135

Change in currency 
translation reserve -351 -351 -351 -351

Revaluation effect from  
provisions for pensions -43 11 -32 -32 -32

Consolidated net income 8,021 8,021 2 8,023

Balance as at 31/12/2013 14,251 39,342 6,626 2,653 11,132 183 -259 53 888 -521 8,021 7,500 152 83,042
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Segment reporting 2013

OVB Holding AG

Segment reporting 2013
of OVB Holding AG according to IFRS

	 								      

in EUR’000
Central and 

Eastern Europe Germany
Southern and 

	 Western Europe

 
Corporate 

Centre Consolidation Consolidated

Segment income

Income from business with 
third parties

	 - Brokerage income 110,532 44,098 32,951 0 0 187,581

Other operating income 2,696 3,223 1,295 1,531 -87 8,658

Income from inter-segment 
transactions 47 1,366 5 8,919 -10,337 0

Total segment income 113,275 48,687 34,251 10,450 -10,424 196,239

Segment expenses

Brokerage expense

	 - �Current commission 
for sales force -71,189 -19,513 -19,054 0 0 -109,755

	 -	� Other commission 
for sales force -5,744 -4,192 -2,134 0 0 -12,071

Personnel expenses -6,912 -7,780 -3,426 -7,430 0 -25,549

Depreciation/amortisation -743 -907 -260 -960 0 -2,870

Other operating expenses -17,810 -9,807 -8,031 -10,596 10,457 -35,786

Total segment expenses -102,398 -42,199 -32,905 -18,986 10,457 -186,031

Earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT) 10,877 6,488 1,346 -8,536 33 10,208

Interest income 369 282 118 370 -193 946

Interest expenses -48 -230 -60 -36 193 -181

Other financial result 0 76 52 390 -346 172

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 11,198 6,616 1,456 -7,812 -313 11,145

Taxes on income -2,578 -96 -53 -395 0 -3,122

Non-controlling interests 0 0 0 -2 0 -2

Segment result 8,620 6,520 1,403 -8,209              -313 8,021

Additional disclosures

Capital expenditures 1,006 897 250 973 0 3,126

Material non-cash expenses (-) 
and income (+) 1,890 281 -695 -66 0 1,410

Impairment expenses -1,288 -2,299 -1,089 -899 706 -4,868

Reversal of impairment loss 171 633 91 1,096 -1,053 937
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Segment reporting 2012
of OVB Holding AG according to IFRS

	 								      

in EUR’000
Central and 

Eastern Europe Germany
Southern and 

	 Western Europe

 
Corporate 

Centre Consolidation Consolidated

Segment income

Income from business with 
third parties

	 - Brokerage income 121,135 46,518 26,812 0 0 194,465

Other operating income 1,722 3,796 1,559 1,995 -42 9,030

Income from inter-segment 
transactions

 
35

 
1,175

 
3

 
7,390

 
-8,603

 
0

Total segment income 122,892 51,489 28,374 9,385 -8,645 203,495

Segment expenses

Brokerage expense

	 - �Current commission 
for sales force

 
-80,852

 
-20,775

 
-15,596

 
0

 
0

 
-117,223

	 -	� Other commission 
for sales force

 
-5,086

 
-4,505

 
-1,739

 
-260

 
0

 
-11,590

Personnel expenses 1) -6,867 -7,462 -3,119 -6,868 0 -24,316

Depreciation/amortisation -695 -1,091 -311 -1,083 0 -3,180

Other operating expenses -17,832 -10,665 -7,520 -9,615 9,138 -36,494

Total segment expenses -111,332 -44,498 -28,285 -17,826 9,138 -192,803

Earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT) 1) 11,560 6,991 90 -8,441 493 10,692

Interest income 582 284 143 736 -349 1,396

Interest expenses -44 -491 -45 -91 350 -321

Other financial result 0 7 192 -165 262 296

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 1) 12,098 6,791 380 -7,961 756 12,063

Taxes on income -2,498 -393 98 -996 0 -3,789

Non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 -12 -12

Segment result 1) 9,600 6,398 478 -8,958 744 8,262

Additional disclosures

Capital expenditures 838 332 158 640 0 1,968

Material non-cash expenses (-) 
and income (+)

 
-1,055

 
481

 
-191

 
-128

 
0

 
-893

Impairment expenses -1,277 -2,334 -1,243 -820 746 -4,928

Reversal of impairment loss 104 841 97 61 0 1,103

1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised 
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“ At OVB I have a secure job with international career opportunities.”
“ OVB is an employer who expects much of me and offers me a fair 
and performance-related compensation.” 

“ I work for a Group with short decision-making processes that gives 
me leeway and expects me to use it for the success of the Company.”

“What does it mean for me 
to be an employee of OVB?”

OVB Holding AG
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General information

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for financial year 2013

I. General information

1.	 General information on the OVB Group
OVB Holding AG (hereinafter also referred to as "OVB" or "the Company") is a German stock corporation with its registered office 
in Cologne, Germany, at Heumarkt 1. The Company is recorded in Part B of the commercial register maintained at the Local Court 
(Amtsgericht) of Cologne under registration number 34649. The object of the Company is to manage enterprises, specifically those 
involved in providing advisory and brokerage services in connection with investments, building society savings contracts and insur-
ance contracts, and those involved in providing advisory and brokerage services in relation to real estate of all kinds.

The consolidated financial statements of OVB Holding AG for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 were released for publication 
on 20 March 2014 pursuant to a resolution of the Executive Board and with the consent of the Supervisory Board.

2.	 Basis of preparation  
As listed parent company that utilises an organised market within the meaning of Section 2 (5) of the German Securities Trad-
ing Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz – WpHG), OVB Holding AG, in accordance with Section 315a of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB), has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable in the European Union, released by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
All International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Accounting Standards (IAS) subject to mandatory appli-
cation for financial year 2013 as well as the interpretations released by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Com-
mittee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) were taken into account. The requirements under Section 315a 1) 
HGB were also considered.

The IFRS financial statements of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements of OVB Holding AG are based 
on uniform accounting and valuation principles. The IFRS financial statements have the same reporting date as the consolidated 
financial statements and were audited by independent auditors, provided those companies permanently provide brokerage ser-
vices or assume material functions within the Group.   

All figures in the consolidated financial statements are stated in Euros. Unless stated otherwise, all figures are rounded up or 
down to the nearest thousand Euros (EUR’000 ) in accordance with commercial rounding principles. As the figures are presented 
in thousand Euro increments, rounding discrepancies may arise in isolated cases when individual items are added together.

In addition to the consolidated statement of financial position and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated financial 
statements include the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and 
the notes including segment reporting.

2.1	 Mandatory accounting standards

In consideration of the following standards subject to first-time application, the accounting and valuation methods applied are 
the same as those applied in the previous year.   

Standards applied for the first time

n	 Improvements to IFRS

Within the framework of the Annual Improvements project, the IASB has released the fourth collection of “Improvements to IFRS” 
(Cycle 2009 – 2011), resulting in minor amendments to five standards.
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n	 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendment to IAS 1 leads to changes in the arrangement of items presented under other comprehensive income. Those 
components designated for reclassification through profit or loss (so-called recycling) must henceforth be presented separately 
from components not to be reclassified to the income statement. This amendment does not address the definition of comprehen-
sive income.

n	 IAS 19 Employee Benefits (revised 2011)

The IASB has revised IAS 19 extensively. The new provisions allow for material changes in the recognition and measurement of 
expenses for defined benefit pension plans and benefits due to termination of employment and are subject to retrospective appli-
cation for the prior financial year as well. In comparison with the previous year, the option for the (partial) recognition of actuarial 
gains and losses in the income statement according to the corridor method has been eliminated. Adjusted prior-year figures have 
been marked accordingly. Had it not come to the first-time application of IAS 19 revised, earnings for the reporting period would 
have been lower by EUR 32 thousand.

n	 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

Amended IFRS 7 requires information about offsetting assets and liabilities with respect to financial instruments. The amendment 
is aimed at increasing comparability of IFRS and US GAAP financial statements.

n	 IAS 12 Income Taxes – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

This Amendment clarifies the determination of deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value. Accordingly it is 
presumed that generally the recovery of the carrying value through sale is the decisive factor for the calculation of deferred tax  
on property measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 40. With respect to non-depreciable tangible assets measured accord-
ing to the revaluation model pursuant to IAS 16, sale is to be presumed as well.

n	 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 comprises consistent standards for the determination of fair value. For this purpose the standard defines the term of fair 
value and states the methods eligible for its determination. The regulations do not expand the scope of measurement at fair 
value but explain how fair value is determined in those cases where standards already require fair value measurement.

Released standards not yet subject to mandatory application
The standards listed below have been released but are not yet subject to mandatory application or may only be applied in future 
reporting periods. 

n	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 reflects phase I of the IASB project for replacing IAS 39 and deals with the categorisation and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities. The standard is subject to mandatory application for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2018. In further project phases, the IASB will concern itself with the accounting treatment of hedging relationships and the im-
pairment of financial assets. In order to reach a comprehensive understanding of the potential effects, the Group will assess the 
consequences of the revisions of IFRS 9 only upon completion of the next phases.

n	 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 supersedes the provisions of previous IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements on group accounting and ad-
dresses issues formerly regulated in SIC 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.

IFRS 10 establishes a uniform concept of control applicable to all kinds of companies including special purpose entities toward the 
determination of the basis of consolidation. Compared to the previous legal situation, the amendment to IFRS 10 requires discretion-
ary management decisions in assessing which entities are controlled within the Group and whether those entities must therefore be 
included in consolidated financial statements by way of full consolidation. The introduction of the amended standard is not expected 
to have an effect on the Group's assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss. The Standard is subject to mandatory applica-
tion for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

n	 IFRS 11 Joint Agreements  

IFRS 11 supersedes the provisions of IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and eliminates the former option of proportionate consol-
idation. Henceforth the mandatory application of the equity method to joint ventures follows the provisions of IAS 28, whose 
scope has been expanded to the accounting treatment of joint ventures. Based on the present basis of consolidation, there are no 
effects on the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss. The standard is subject to mandatory application for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
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n	 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 consolidates and expands the disclosures of all investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. The new standard 
provides for quantitative and qualitative statements that enable the addressee to assess the kind, the risks and the financial con-
sequences of the investments. Corresponding disclosures are enhanced in the Group's notes to consolidated financial statements. 
The standard must be applied for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

n	 IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (Improvement)

The amendment to IAS 32 brings a clarification of several provisions for the offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities in 
case of a legally enforceable right of set-off. Accordingly the right of set-off must exist as of the reporting date and there must be 
an intention to fulfil the liability net of the asset or to transact both items simultaneously. The right must also be legally enforceable 
for all parties involved in the ordinary course of business as well as in case of one party’s insolvency. The clarification will proba-
bly have no effect on the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss. The standard is subject to application for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 

n	 IAS 36 Impairment of Assets 

The amendment to IAS 36 leads to the harmonisation of disclosures with respect to value in use and disclosures connected to fair 
value less costs to sell. The amendment will probably have no effect on the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and profit 
or loss. The amended standard is subject to application for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 

There are no other standards or interpretations not yet subject to mandatory application that have a potential material effect on 
the Group.

2.2	 Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 incorporate OVB Holding AG and the companies 
under its control. Control usually applies if the parent directly or indirectly holds more than 50 per cent of the voting rights in an enti-
ty or if it can influence the financial and operating policies of an entity in such a way that it profits from the entity's activities. The eq-
uity and net income for the period attributable to non-controlling interests are reported separately in both the statement of financial 
position and the income statement.

The consolidated financial statements contain all assets and (contingent) liabilities as well as all expenses and income of OVB Hold-
ing AG and the subsidiaries under its control after elimination of all intra-group transactions by way of consolidation of investments, 
liabilities, expenses and income as well as the elimination of interim results. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated as of the date of acquisition, i.e. the date on which OVB Holding AG assumes control. Inclusion 
in the consolidated financial statements by way of full consolidation ends as soon as an entity is no longer controlled by the parent 
company.
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Apart from OVB Holding AG, the following subsidiaries have been included in the consolidated financial statements:

Consolidated companies
Shareholding in 

per cent 

2013

Shareholding 
in per cent

2012

Subscribed 
capital in 
EUR’000 

31/12/2013

Nord-Soft EDV-Unternehmensberatung GmbH, Horst 50.40 50.40 77

Nord-Soft Datenservice GmbH, Horst 50.40 50.40 26

OVB Informatikai Kft., Budapest 100 100 51

MAC Marketing und Consulting GmbH, Salzburg 100 100 500

EF-CON Insurance Agency GmbH, Vienna 100 100 100

OVB Vermögensberatung AG, Cologne 100 100 10,000

OVB Allfinanzvermittlungs GmbH, Wals/Salzburg 100 100 1,500

OVB Vermögensberatung (Schweiz) AG, Cham 100 100 1,177

Eurenta Holding GmbH Europäische Vermögensberatung, Cologne 100 100 75

Advesto GmbH, Cologne 100 100 100

OVB Vermögensberatung A.P.K. Kft., Budapest 100 100 134

OVB Allfinanz a.s., Prague 100 100 570

OVB Allfinanz Slovensko a.s., Bratislava 100 100 849

OVB Allfinanz Polska Społka Finansowa Sp. z.o.o., Warsaw 100 100 245

OVB Allfinanz Romania Broker de Asigurare S.R.L., Cluj 100 100 618

OVB Imofinanz S.R.L., Cluj 100 100 149

OVB SW Services s.r.o., Prague 100 100 8

OVB Allfinanz Croatia d.o.o., Zagreb 100 100 515

OVB Allfinanz Zastupanje d.o.o., Zagreb 100 100 3

OVB-Consulenza Patrimoniale SRL, Verona 100 100 100

EFCON Consulting s.r.o., Brno 100 100 37

EFCON s.r.o., Bratislava 100 100 26

OVB Allfinanz España S.L., Madrid 100 100 501

OVB (Hellas) Allfinanz Vermittlungs GmbH & Co. KG, Bankprodukte, Athens 100 100 201

OVB Hellas Allfinanz Vermittlungs GmbH, Athens 100 100 200

Eurenta Hellas Monoprosopi Eteria Periorismenis Efthynis Asfalistiki 
Praktores, Athens 100 100 18

OVB Conseils en patrimoine France Sàrl, Strasbourg 100 100 300

TOB OVB Allfinanz Ukraine, Kiev 100 100 1,339

2.3	 Foreign currency translation 

2.3.1	 Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are generally translated at the closing exchange rate of the transaction date. Monetary items de-
nominated in foreign currencies (e.g. liquid assets, receivables, liabilities) are consequently translated at the respective closing 
exchange rates, and any translation differences are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items valued at historical cost con-
tinue to be translated at historical exchange rates. The historical exchange rate equals the exchange rate used when the item was 
first recognised.

2.3.2	 Foreign entities 

Annual financial statements presented in a foreign currency are translated according to the functional currency approach under 
IAS 21 in application of the modified closing rate method. The assets and liabilities of the consolidated foreign entities, all of which 
are financially independent as well as independently organised and operated, are translated at the closing exchange rate of the 
reporting date (“closing rate”) while expenses and income are translated at the average annual exchange rate (“average rate”) 
and equity items are translated at historical rates. Translation differences are recognised outside profit or loss.
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The exchange rates of relevance to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements have developed in relation to the 
Euro as follows:

EUR
Closing rate 
31/12/2013

Closing rate 
31/12/2012 Change in %

Average rate  
2013

Average rate 
2012 Change in %

CHF 0.815900 0.828300 -1.50 0.812780 0.829830 -2.05

CZK 0.036500 0.039860 -8.43 0.038580 0.039830 -3.14

HUF 0.003375 0.003441 -1.92 0.003370 0.003470 -2.88

HRK 0.131200 0.133100 -1.43 0.132180 0.133330 -0.86

PLN 0.241200 0.245500 -1.75 0.238630 0.239530 -0.38

RON 0.224200 0.225500 -0.58 0.226610 0.224630 -0.88

UAH 0.088710 0.094120 -5.75 0.093560 0.097570 -4.11

3.	 Summary of essential accounting policies and valuation methods

3.1	 Historical cost convention 

Generally speaking, the amortised acquisition cost, or historical cost, of assets and liabilities constitutes the maximum value at 
which they can be reported.

However, available-for-sale securities and investment property are exceptions to this rule as they are recognised at fair value. The 
fair value is defined as the amount that would be received for the sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of a liability in a business 
transaction between market participants as of the cut-off date. 

The fair value of available-for-sale securities corresponds with the market value in an active market. If no market price is available, 
fair value is determined on the basis of the requirements defined by IFRS 13.61 according to a valuation model. Unrealised gains 
or losses are generally recognised outside profit or loss. If such a security is disposed of, the cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised directly in equity are then reclassified to the income statement. If the security is permanently impaired, the cumulative 
losses previously recognised outside profit or loss are then also reclassified to the income statement.  

The fair value of investment property is established by an independent valuer. Gains or losses derived from changes in the fair 
value of investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they accrue.

3.2	 Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position only when a group company of 
the OVB Group becomes a contracting party with respect to the contractual provisions of the respective financial instrument. 
Recognition is thus made as of the settlement date.

The OVB Group`s financial instruments can be divided into the following categories which particularly determine how the instru-
ments are measured after first-time recognition.  

Loans and receivables
After their first-time recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost. This is the amount at which a financial 
asset was initially recognised, less repayments, plus or less the cumulative amortisation of any difference between the originally 
assigned value and the amount repayable at final maturity based on the effective interest method, and less any allowances for 
impairment. In case of objective substantial indicators of impairment (“triggering events”), an individual assessment of the need 
for impairment is made. All future cash flows to maturity are discounted to the asset's net carrying amount.

Receivables and liabilities to and from the same former financial advisor are offset if they have the same maturity. This concerns 
the items in the statement of financial position 7.1 “Other receivables”, 25 “Trade payables” and 26 “Other liabilities”.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised at fair value. Unrealised valuation gains and losses are recognised outside profit 
or loss until the time of disposal unless the conditions for impairment are fulfilled. Appreciation in value up to amortised cost after 
previously recognised impairment of debt securities is recognised in profit or loss while the appreciation of equity securities is 
generally recognised outside profit or loss through the revaluation reserve. 
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Financial liabilities
After their initial measurement at cost, financial liabilities are generally recognised at amortised cost in the following period in 
application of the effective interest method.  

3.2.1	 Impairment and reversal of impairment loss of financial assets

The carrying amounts of financial assets are reviewed as of each reporting date to determine whether there are substantial objec-
tive indications for impairment, so-called triggering events. In this context, objective indications for impairment include for exam-
ple a debtor’s material financial difficulties, significant changes in the issuer's market or the permanent decline of the fair value of 
a financial asset below amortised cost. If there are such objective indications, an individual evaluation follows at a second stage 
that may result in the assessment of the existence of actual impairment. 

If impairment loss was recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of any "available-for-sale" debt securities held 
by OVB, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss in subsequent periods if the reasons for impairment cease to exist. 
Reversal of impairment loss must not exceed the amortised cost that would have resulted if no impairment loss had been recorded. 
Any excess amount is recognised in the revaluation reserve.

Impairment losses are not reversed through profit or loss for “available-for-sale financial assets” in the form of equity securities. 
Changes in the fair value in subsequent periods must rather be recognised in the revaluation reserve unless further impairment 
has to be taken into account. 

With respect to financial assets attributed to the category loans and receivables for which impairment loss was recognised in the 
statement of financial position, impairment loss will be reversed through profit or loss up to the amount of amortised cost if the 
reasons for impairment cease to exist.

3.3	 Recognition of sales

Sales are generally recognised at the time that the agreed performances have been provided and the claim for payment arises 
against the relevant product partner. In case of uncertainty with respect to the recognition of sales, the time of actual cash inflow is 
taken into account. In the event that commissions are refunded to a product partner, for example if contracts are cancelled or in the 
event of non-payment, provisions are made on the basis of historical figures (provisions for cancellation risk). Changes in provisions 
for cancellation risk are recognised on account of sales.

In the case of commissions received in instalments, back payments can usually be expected for subsequent years after conclusion 
of the contract. Commissions received in instalments are recognised at fair value of the received or claimable amount at the time 
the claim for payment arises. 

3.4	 Discretionary decisions

All of the necessary estimates and assessments in connection with accounting and valuation in accordance with IFRS correspond 
with the respective accounting standard. Estimates are continually revised and based on experience as to future events. Estimates 
also consider all events with historical origins known as of the reporting date that have material effects on future periods. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, assumptions have been made and estimates utilised that had an effect on the 
disclosure and value of assets and contingent liabilities as recorded in the statement of financial position.

The following is an explanation of the most significant assumptions as to future events and other material sources of estimate 
uncertainty as of the reporting date which entail a considerable risk that a material adjustment might have to be made to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

These assumptions and estimates essentially relate to the measurement of provisions and legal risks, the collectability of receivables 
and deferred taxes on loss carry-forward, impairment of goodwill and depreciation/amortisation or rather the determination 
of the useful lives of assets. Actual values may deviate from the assumptions and estimates in the individual case. Changes are 
recognised at the time that better information becomes available.

When provisions are made, estimates of the expected expense required in fulfilment of the current obligation as of the reporting 
date are made annually, with reasonable regard to the risk involved. If the probability of occurrence is known for a large number 
of contingencies, an estimated value is determined, and if a bandwidth is known and the probability of occurrence is equally high 
for each item within this bandwidth, an average amount is determined. In all other cases, the best estimate corresponds with the 
most probable value. For the calculation of provisions for cancellation risks, historical data for cancellation rates and the probability 
of cancellation are considered as the basis of estimated future cancellations of contracts. Future cancellation behaviour may vary 
from the estimate made as of the reporting date. Ceteris paribus an increase of the cancellation rate leads to a linear increase 
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of the provisions for cancellation risk. Furthermore, periods of liability for separate product groups and current agreements with 
respect to liability rates are considered. 

Receivables are stated at amortised cost less any necessary valuation allowance. Specific valuation allowances are calculated on 
the basis of individual risk assessment in consideration of all available information on the credit rating of the debtor and the age 
structure of the receivables. Because of the large number of receivables due from different individual sources, lump sum valuation 
allowances are also made on the basis of homogenous classification of non-significant receivables that share a consistent profile 
relating to risks and opportunities, based on an assessment of the respective debtor's value-defining factors.

The annual impairment tests of goodwill are based on multi-year budget figures that are generally subject to a certain degree of 
quantitative uncertainty. Impairment testing requires an estimate of the value in use of the respective cash-generating unit. For 
the determination of the value in use, estimates of expected future cash flows are required. Moreover, the parameters required 
for calculating value in use must also be determined. These parameters primarily include the risk-free interest rate and a risk 
premium. 

For the capitalisation of deferred tax on loss carry-forward, the taxable income of future years must be estimated. This estimate 
is based on the multi-year budget planning of the individual group divisions. Actually recognisable future sales may vary from the 
budget figures.

Insofar as estimates were necessary to a larger extent, the underlying assumptions are explained in detail below in the explanatory 
notes to the respective item. 

3.5	 Objectives and methods of financial risk management 

OVB pursues a corporate policy according to which the Company’s shareholders participate adequately in the business success. 
The Executive Board has the objective to keep distributing business profits to the shareholders. The capital structure of OVB 
Holding AG is distinguished by a solid equity ratio of 56.6 per cent (previous year: 54.3 per cent) which is appreciated by the clients 
with their confidence. The Group utilises various financial instruments that are a direct result of its commercial activities. The 
material risks to which the Group is exposed in connection with financial instruments include liquidity risks, currency risks, credit 
risks and interest rate risks. By means of the risk management system implemented by the Company’s management, risks are 
regularly analysed and promptly reported. The risk management system identifies gross exposure, i.e. the risks that materialise if 
no measures are taken by the Company, and net risk, i.e. the residual risk that remains after appropriate measures have been tak-
en. The risk report is delivered at regular intervals; in case of increased individual risks reports are given directly to the Company’s 
management. Management decides on strategies and procedures for managing individual types of risk explained below in the 
respective subsections.

The following table shows the carrying amounts of all financial assets reported in the consolidated financial statements. It does 
not contain information on the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value as the carrying 
amount represents an adequate approximation of the fair value.

 

in EUR’000
Carrying amount 

2013
Carrying amount 

2012

Financial assets L+R 397 397

Trade receivables L+R 21,644 23,976

Receivables and other assets 28,177 30,285

     Receivables L+R 17,477 21,132

     Other assets 10,700 9,153

Securities and other investments 34,961 39,236

     Securities AfS 5,039 5,413

     Other investments L+R 29,923 33,823

Cash and cash equivalents L+R 38,370 35,726

 
L+R = Loans and Receivables  
AfS = Available-for-Sale 

All carrying amounts of financial assets correspond to the respective fair values. Securities are measured according to stage 1, at 
exchange or market prices, pursuant to IFRS 13.
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Aggregated according to the categories defined under IAS 39, the carrying amounts of financial instruments can be presented as 
follows:

in EUR’000
Carrying amount 

2013
Amortised  

cost 
Historical  

cost 

Change in  
value outside 
profit or loss 

Change in  
value through 

profit or loss 

Loans and receivables 107,811 
(2012: 115,054)

107,811 
 (2012:115,054)

- - -17,975 
(2012: -17,343)

Available-for-sale  
financial assets

5,039 
(2012: 5,413)

- 5,829 
(2012: 6,040)

184 
(2012: 350)

-974 
(2012: -977)

Financial liabilities 33,172 
(2012: 34,579)

33,172 
(2012: 34,579)

- - - 

The Company's current liabilities fall under the category "financial liabilities" recognised at amortised cost. "Loans and receivables" 
include all of the Company’s receivables, loans reported as financial assets, fixed-term deposits and cash equivalents with a ma-
turity of more than three months reported as other current investments, current loans and cash and cash equivalents. In order to 
improve comparability with the following tables, the carrying amount shown for each asset category is the net carrying amount, 
i.e. after consideration of impairment. All securities are classified as "available-for-sale financial assets".

Neither in the year under review nor in the previous year were financial assets reclassified in accordance with IFRS 7.12.

Financial assets with a carrying amount of EUR 4,510 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,995 thousand) were pledged as collateral. 

The fair values of the available-for-sale financial assets stated in the financial statements were determined on the basis of exist-
ing exchange and market prices. 

The following table shows the net result from financial instruments broken down by measurement category: 

From subsequent measurement Net result

in EUR’000

From interest 
income and 

similar income At fair value 

Valuation allow-
ance/ Apprecia-

tion in value From disposal Total

Loans and receivables 946 
(2012: 1,395)

- -1,960 
(2012: -2,043)

-1,238 
(2012: -1,243)

-2,253 
(2012: -1,891)

Available-for-sale  
financial assets

132 
(2012: 118)

-166 
(2012: 97)

3 
(2012: -16)

22 
(2012: 162)

-8 
(2012: 361)

Financial liabilities -181 
(2012: -320)

- - 1,200 
(2012: 1,034)

1,019 
(2012: 714)

Total 897 
(2012: 1,193)

-166 
(2012: 97)

-1,957 
(2012: -2,059)

-16 
(2012: -47)

-1,242 
(2012: -816)

Foreign currency effects included in the net result are immaterial and therefore not reported separately. The net result includes 
EUR -166 thousand recognised in equity.

OVB reports the above mentioned expenses and income included in the net result under financial result with the exception of:

n	 �allowances for receivables assigned to the category loans and receivables that are reported under distribution expenses as 
essentially receivables from sales agents are concerned, 

n	 �income from the cancellation of statute-barred liabilities that are reported under other operating income and 

n	 �adjustments to the fair value of available-for-sale financial instruments outside profit or loss that are recognised outside  
profit or loss. 

The net result from allowances for loans and receivables consists of expenses for valuation allowances and income from appreci-
ation in value.

Total interest income from financial assets amounted to EUR 1,078 thousand in the year under review (previous year: EUR 1,513 
thousand). Total interest expense for financial liabilities was EUR 181 thousand (previous year: EUR 320 thousand).

For the qualitative statements relating to the type of risks carried by financial instruments pursuant to IFRS 7.31-7.42, please refer 
to the management report (chapter “Financial risks”).
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3.5.1	 Credit risks

The group companies are exposed to default risks relating to receivables from sales agents. OVB counters these risks by retaining 
securities, running an efficient accounts receivable management at the respective group companies and practising a careful se-
lection of financial advisors. Credit risk relating to product partners is curtailed by restrictive selection. Appropriate risk provisions 
have been made for receivables associated with a “triggering event” upon which impairment loss has been identified. 

Cancellation risks are adequately covered by corresponding provisions. With respect to the Group's other financial assets such as 
cash, cash equivalents and financial assets, the maximum credit risk in the event of counterparty default is the carrying amount 
of these instruments. Subsequent to their initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost. This is the amount at which the 
financial asset was initially recognised, less repayments, plus or less the cumulative amortisation of any premium/discount and 
less any allowances for impairment.

The maximum amount of exposure in the category "loans and receivables" is equivalent to the carrying amount of EUR 107,811 
thousand (previous year: EUR 115,054 thousand). Securities held as collateral for this purpose come to EUR 2,113 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 3,365 thousand) so that the residual risk amounts to EUR 105,698 thousand (previous year: EUR 111,689 thousand). No 
material terms and conditions were renegotiated in the year under review.

The maximum amount of exposure in the category "available-for-sale financial assets" as of 31 December 2013 is equivalent to the 
carrying amount of EUR 5,039 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,413 thousand). 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither overdue nor impaired is determined on the basis of the subsidiaries’ manage-
ment assessment within a scale from “AAA” to “lower than BBB”, according to Standard & Poor's ratings categories, as follows:

in EUR’000 AAA AA A BBB
Lower than 

BBB No rating Total

Loans and receivables 5,843  
(2012: 5,218)

4,666  
(2012: 20,974)

75,866  
(2012: 63,474)

3,732  
(2012: 1,374)

223  
(2012: 199)

6,290   
(2012: 9,607)

96,620  
(2012: 100,846)

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

0  
(2012: 0)

0  
(2012: 0)

576  
(2012: 2,872)

657  
(2012: 0)

0  
(2012: 0)

0  
(2012: 0)

1,233  
(2012: 2,872)

For the monitoring of risks associated with receivables from financial advisors and receivables from employees, please see the 
explanatory notes on the impairment of other receivables.

Assets overdue yet not impaired as of the reporting date amount to EUR 4 thousand (previous year: EUR 15 thousand).

As of the reporting date there were no receivables whose conditions had been renegotiated in the year under review and that 
would otherwise have been overdue or impaired. 

The individually impaired financial assets as of the reporting date can be broken down as follows:

in EUR’000 Gross amount Valuation allowance Carrying amount (net)

Loans and receivables 29,145  
(2012: 31,536)

-17,957  
(2012: -17,343)

11,187  
(2012: 14,193)

Available-for-sale  
financial assets 

4,779  
(2012: 3,518)

974  
(2012: -977)

3,806  
(2012: 2,541)

With regard to receivables, other assets and financial assets that were neither overdue nor impaired, no circumstances exist as of 
the reporting date to suggest that the respective debtors will not meet their payment obligations.

3.5.2	 Currency risks

Currency risks within the meaning of IFRS 7 arise as a result of financial instruments which are denominated in a currency other 
than the functional currency. 

In the course of operations, the individual group companies process and settle transactions almost exclusively in their respective 
functional currency. Material financial instruments (cash and cash equivalents, receivables, interest-bearing securities or debt capital 
instruments held, interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing liabilities) are also denominated almost exclusively in the functional 
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currency. Immediately after the end of each financial year, the subsidiaries largely distribute their profits to the parent company 
so that corresponding currency risks are low. OVB's currency risk from current operations is therefore considered low altogether.

The Group generates 44 per cent of sales (previous year: 48 per cent) in functional currencies other than the Euro. Changes in 
exchange rates between these currencies and the Euro may have an impact on consolidated net income and the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The rates of exchange between the Euro and these functional currencies are monitored in order to 
make allowance for currency risks arising from exchange rate fluctuations.

Had the exchange rates of the currencies of relevance to OVB not changed from the previous year, consolidated sales would have 
been EUR 2,285 thousand higher and the consolidated net income would have been EUR 200 thousand higher.

3.5.3	 Interest rate risks 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in the form of potential interest rate fluctuations. Interest rate risks are presented by 
way of sensitivity analyses in accordance with IFRS 7. They show the effects of changes in market interest rates on interest income 
and expense, other income components and, if applicable, on equity. For the sensitivity analysis with respect to fixed-interest 
securities, information on changes in prices at corresponding changes in market interest rates is taken into consideration (basis 
point value).

As of the reporting date, the Company had variable-interest assets valued at EUR 38,497 thousand (previous year: EUR 32,645 
thousand) and variable-interest liabilities of EUR 200 thousand (previous year: EUR 200 thousand). If market interest rates for the 
full year 2013 had been 100 basis points higher (lower), net income would have been EUR 383 thousand (previous year: EUR 324 
thousand) higher (lower). For fixed-income securities in the amount of EUR 499 thousand (previous year: EUR 520 thousand),  
an increase (decrease) in market interest rates by 100 basis points would have decreased (increased) the total market prices by 
approx. EUR 5 thousand (previous year: EUR 5 thousand).

3.5.4	 Liquidity risks

The Group continuously monitors the risk of a potential liquidity squeeze by means of a liquidity planning report. This report is 
prepared weekly and takes into account the terms to maturity of financial investments and financial assets (e.g. receivables, oth-
er financial assets) as well as anticipated cash flows from operating activities. No liquidity shortfalls were identified at any time 
during the reporting period.

4.	 Group assets

4.1	 Non-current assets

Tangible and intangible non-current assets with a low cost base were written off in full in the year of acquisition and recognised as 
disposals.

4.1.1	 Intangible assets

Intangible assets include both purchased and internally developed software, purchased trademarks and goodwill.

The following conditions must be met for the capitalisation of internally generated intangible assets:

n	 �An intangible asset must be identifiable, i.e. it can be separated from the Company and sold, transferred, licensed,  
let or swapped

n	 �Completion of the intangible asset is technically feasible in order to allow its use or sale

n	 �Intention to complete and use or sell the intangible asset

n	 �Ability to use or sell the intangible asset and to restrict access of third parties to its benefit

n	 �Reliable determination of acquisition and production cost 

n	 �Availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources toward the completion of the development and the intangible 
asset’s use or sale

n	 �Probability that the internally generated asset will yield future economic benefits
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In accordance with IAS 38.21, software development costs are capitalised in the OVB Group if inflow of an economic benefit attrib-
utable to the created software is probable and if the cost can be determined reliably. If these criteria for capitalisation are not met, 
the expenditure on the item is recognised in profit or loss in the year it is incurred.

Software and other intangible assets (not including goodwill) are recognised at acquisition cost less cumulative amortisation and 
impairment.

Unless special circumstances make deviation necessary, the amortisation of other intangible assets is calculated using the 
straight-line method on the basis of the following useful lives: 

Expected useful life 

Software 3 – 10 years

Other intangible assets 3 – 10 years

Goodwill No amortisation (IFRS 3)

In 2010 a CRM system was introduced at several subsidiaries of the OVB Group. The software is gradually amortised over 10 years, 
according to its introduction at the respective subsidiary, in application of the straight-line method. The total period of the software’s 
introduction will probably range from March 2010 to September 2015. As the individualised national market modules are introduced 
subsequently and the software is constantly updated, the total amortisation period for this asset will come to 15.5 years due to the 
scheduled introduction period throughout the Group of 5.5 years. 

Payments on account of software are measured at face value.

Until 31 December 2004 goodwill was amortised through profit or loss using the straight-line method over its useful life provided 
there was no impairment.

Due to the application of IFRS 3, existing goodwill was recognised at its value as of 31 December 2004 and amortisation was discon-
tinued after that date. The assigned value is deemed the new cost. Instead of amortisation using the straight-line method, goodwill 
is subject to so-called impairment testing in accordance with IAS 36 at least once a year. Impairment testing involves justifying the 
value assigned to the asset concerned ("impairment only approach"). Impairment testing for the period entails testing the relevant 
cash-generating units for impairment. Cash-generating units for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing are the entities form-
ing the basis of the goodwill or divisions of these entities. This scheduled impairment testing is conducted in the fourth quarter on 
the basis of multi-year budget figures. OVB applies a DCF procedure. If there are indications of impairment, additional tests are car-
ried out during the reporting period independently of the mandatory annual impairment test. 

The asset schedule shows how the values of intangible assets have changed over the financial year. There were no restrictions on 
disposal or pledges.

4.1.2	 Tangible assets 

Tangible assets are stated at historical cost less cumulative depreciation and impairment plus any reversal of impairment loss.

Gains or losses upon asset disposals are determined by comparing sale proceeds with the carrying amount. Resulting gains or 
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful life is determined based on anticipated physical wear and tear, technological obsolescence and legal and 
contractual restrictions.
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Tangible assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives: 

Expected useful life 

Own-use property 25 – 50 years 

Machinery, equipment, furniture, vehicles, other 4 – 10 years

IT equipment 3 – 5 years

Tenant fixtures and fittings 5 – 13 years

Leased property 3 – 5 years

4.1.3	 Investment property

Investment properties are capitalised at cost including transaction costs, representing the investment’s market value at the time 
of acquisition. Investment property is capitalised only if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the property 
will flow to the entity and if the cost of the property can be reliably measured.

Investment property is remeasured at fair value on subsequent reporting dates (fair value model). Unless there are reasons that 
suggest that a revaluation should be conducted substantially earlier, revaluations are carried out at least once a year by an inde-
pendent valuer. Pursuant to IAS 40 investment property is thus not subject to depreciation.

Revaluation is generally provided by an independent valuer’s current report utilising accepted real property valuation methods 
and taking into account property-specific distinctive features. For further explanations of the methods applied to investment 
property valuation please refer to the presentation of the corresponding asset items.

4.1.4	 Financial assets

Financial assets relate to loans to in-house and sales force staff granted at market interest rates. They are recognised at amortised 
cost less impairment loss if applicable.

4.1.5	 Lease agreements 

Lease agreements where the lessee has substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership are classified as finance leas-
es. The lessee depreciates the capitalised leased asset over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the asset. Any liabili-
ties under the lease agreement are recognised accordingly and discounted by the interest rate implicit in the lease.

If above criteria are not met, the lease is classified as an operating lease. OVB is currently the lessee under both operating and 
finance lease agreements.

Rental income under operating leases where OVB acts as lessor is recognised in profit or loss under the item “other operating in-
come”.

4.1.6	 Impairment

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment within the meaning of IAS 36.1 as part of risk management whenever so-called 
triggering events indicate that the asset's carrying amount may not be recoverable (impairment test). Such objective indications 
or triggering events would include, for example, changes in market value, changes in market and business environment, chang-
es in market interest rates or substantial indications in the Company's internal reporting that the ability to use the asset has 
changed for the worse or that the asset's earning capacity has been diminished. Impairment loss is recognised as soon as it is 
determined in the context of the impairment test that an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recovera-
ble amount is the higher of the asset's net selling price and value in use. The net selling price is the amount obtainable by selling 
the asset under market conditions less cost to sell. The value in use is the cash or present value of estimated future cash flows 
expected to arise from the continued use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. The recoverable amount is 
determined for each asset individually if possible or otherwise for the cash-generating unit the asset belongs to.

Goodwill recognised in the statement of financial position is tested with respect to its future economic benefit in accordance with 
the methods described under note 4.1.1.  In this regard, the future economic benefit is determined on the basis of the recoverable 
amount. Impairment loss is recorded in profit or loss if the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount of the respec-
tive cash-generating unit.
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4.2	 Current assets

4.2.1	 Receivables and other assets

Receivables and other assets are recognised at amortised cost less any necessary valuation allowances. Impairment loss is deter-
mined on the basis of risk assessment for each item and past experience.

Claims for commission acquired from financial advisors against payment are recognised according to their nature as either non-
financial assets or financial assets at amortised cost less saved commission expense. The reduction of the carrying amount by 
saved commission expense increases brokerage expenses by the full amount. 

4.2.2	 Securities

Pursuant to IAS 39, securities are classified in the categories "at fair value through profit or loss", "held-to-maturity", "available-for-
sale" and "loans and receivables". 

Given the incidental nature of OVB's investments, only such securities are purchased that can be sold at any time. All securities 
and other investments are thus classified as "available-for-sale". 

Financial assets are measured at fair value plus transaction costs upon their first-time recognition.

"Available-for-sale" financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value, provided the fair value can be reliably determined. 
Changes in the market value of "available-for-sale" financial assets are recognised in the revaluation reserve in equity and reclas-
sified in profit or loss only if gains or losses are realised. A loss is deemed realised even without the sale of the security if there are 
objective indications (triggering events) for the identification of impairment (IAS 39.58 in conjunction with IAS 36.12).

Premiums and discounts are attributed directly to their respective financial assets and allocated over the remaining term with  
a constant effective interest rate. If there are objective indications of impairment, assessment are made with respect to actual 
impairment and impairment loss is recognised if necessary. 

4.2.3	 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits recognised in the statement of financial position include cash-in-hand, bank balances and short-
term deposits with an original term to maturity of less than three months. These items are recognised at nominal value. If the 
respective requirements are fulfilled, current liabilities to banks are resented together with cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents as reported in the statement of cash flows comprise cash-in-hand and bank balances with terms to 
maturity of less than three months less current liabilities to banks.

 

5.	 Group liabilities

5.1	 Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities are liabilities that fall due more than twelve months after the reporting date or whose payment OVB can 
postpone by at least twelve months from the reporting date as well as liabilities paid outside the ordinary course of business.

5.1.1	 Non-current provisions

Provisions for pensions 
The calculation of provisions for pensions is based on the project unit credit method in accordance with IAS 19. Future obligations 
are valued on the basis of an actuarial estimate. Actuarial valuation takes into account current mortality, disability and staff 
turnover rates. The interest rate applied in order to calculate the present value of pension obligations is based on the interest rate 
applicable to long-term first-class corporate bonds.

Provisions for employees
Provisions for benefits due to employees in the long term are particularly provisions for anniversary benefits that do not fall due 
within 12 months of the reporting date. They are generally stated at the present value of estimated future cash flows. The dis-
count interest rate is oriented toward the interest rate applicable to long-term first-class corporate bonds and comes to 3.17 per 
cent (previous year: 3.6 per cent).
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5.2	 Current liabilities

5.2.1	 Provisions for taxes / Tax liabilities

If certain facts or circumstances are disputed between the reporting entity and the respective tax authority, provisions are created 
for the income taxes of the individual companies based on the respective applicable domestic tax rate.

Taxes on income from current and previous periods that have been assessed but not paid yet are recorded as tax liabilities.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised under tax deferrals.

5.2.2	 Other provisions

Cancellation risks  
Provisions for cancellation risks are made for discounted commission relating to events after the reporting date because commis-
sion must be wholly or partially repaid if a product partner claims a commission refund on the basis of contracts that have been 
cancelled. The amount of the provision is determined by the respective subsidiary based on nationally specific aspects (esp. 
period of liability, the subsidiary’s historical cancellation rates, the expected timing of cancellations, etc.) as of each reporting 
date according to a uniform process implemented in the Group. The probable non-current portion of the provision is subject to 
discounting. The discount rate applied, appropriate to the term to maturity, is 0.48 per cent (previous year: 0.9 per cent).

Unbilled liabilities 
Provisions are made for unbilled liabilities if the amount of the liability can only be estimated as the billable quantities and/or 
prices are unknown. This item primarily relates to unsettled accounts with financial advisors. If specific details cannot be provided 
in the individual case, the provisions are measured at the average share of commission usually attributable to staff. Provisions are 
reviewed as of each reporting date and adjusted in accordance with the best estimate at the time.

Legal disputes
Provisions are set aside for legal disputes if OVB is the defendant in any pending court proceeding as of the reporting date. The 
provision reflects the probable outcome of the dispute with due regard to the associated risk. Provisions are reviewed as of each 
reporting date and adjusted in accordance with the best estimate at the time.

Obligations to employees 
Current provisions are recognised for obligations to employees if the maturity date and/or the amount of such obligations are 
uncertain. Provisions are reviewed as of each reporting date and adjusted in accordance with the best estimate at the time.

Costs of preparing the annual financial statements / Audit costs
Companies of the OVB Group have the obligation under commercial and tax law to prepare annual financial statements in 
accordance with the applicable domestic provisions as well as consolidated financial statements and, if the entity exceeds a certain 
size, to have the financial statements audited. This item also includes the anticipated cost of the audit of the 2013 consolidated 
financial statements.

Other obligations
Other obligations arise where accounts are still outstanding, particularly for goods and services that were supplied before the 
reporting date but have not yet been billed. These provisions are recognised at the present value of the expected settlement 
amount.

5.2.3	 Other liabilities

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised at settlement amounts.
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Loans
Interest-bearing bank loans are recognised at the disbursed amount at the time the loan was received. This amount is usually 
equivalent to the valued amount. Loans are subsequently appreciated in value up to the amount to be repaid by applying the 
effective interest method.

6.	 Consolidated income statement
The consolidated income statement was prepared in application of the total cost method.

6.1	 Income / Expenses

Please refer to chapter 3.3 for the recognition of sales.

The offsetting expense items are recognised on an accrual basis.

6.2	 Financial result

Finance expense and finance income are recognised on an accrual basis.

6.3	 Taxes on income

Actual income tax expense is calculated on the basis of earnings before taxes as reported in the financial statements of the 
individual companies. Earnings before taxes are adjusted for tax-free and non-deductible items. The tax rates applicable as of  
the reporting date are applied in order to calculate income tax.

Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the internationally recognised liability method. According to this method, deferred 
tax items are recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability according to IFRS 
and its tax base as reported by the individual company, as well as for selected consolidation transactions. In addition, deferred 
tax assets are recognised for the future benefit of tax loss carry-forwards. However, a deferred tax asset will be recognised for 
accounting and valuation differences and for tax loss carry-forwards only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The calculation was based on the budgeted 
medium-term earnings of the respective companies. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the respective expected domestic 
income tax rate.   

As prescribed by IAS 12.53, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reported in 
the consolidated statement of financial position as non-current assets (liabilities).

If the temporary difference arising from first-time recognition of an asset/liability does not affect the taxable earnings, no deferred 
taxes are recognised unless the temporary difference arises in connection with the acquisition of a business.

These items are generally recognised as tax income or expense in the income statement. An exception to this rule are items that 
are allocated to other comprehensive income outside profit or loss, in which case the deferred tax on these items is recognised 
accordingly.

Deferred tax assets can be offset against deferred tax liabilities in accordance with IAS 12.74 if the entity has the legal right to 
settle on a net basis, the matter involves income taxes levied by the same taxing authority and the entity intends to realise the 
asset and settle the liability at the same time.

7.	 Explanatory notes and information on segment reporting 
The principal business activities of OVB's operating subsidiaries consist of advising clients in structuring their finances and in 
broking various financial products offered by insurance companies and other enterprises. It is not feasible to break down the 
services provided to clients by product type. Within the group companies there are no identifiable and distinctive key sub-activities 
on group level. For this reason, the individual companies are each categorised as single-product companies. Consequently segment 
reporting is based exclusively on geographic aspects since corporate governance and internal reporting to group management 



60
Notes

OVB Holding AG

General information

are also structured according to these criteria exclusively. In this regard, the operating group companies represent operating 
segments for the purpose of IFRS 8 and have been aggregated in three reportable segments in accordance with the criteria for 
aggregation provided by IFRS 8.12. All companies not involved in brokerage service operations are aggregated in the fourth segment, 
Corporate Centre. Compliant with IFRS, internal reporting to company management is a condensed presentation of the income 
statement, which is presented more elaborately in segment reporting. The companies’ earnings are monitored separately by com-
pany management in order to be able to measure and assess profitability. Due to the Improvements to International Financial  
Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union by Commission Regulation No. 243/2010 of 23 March 2010, segment assets are 
not disclosed in the presentation of segment reporting compliant with IFRS 8.23 as this disclosure is not part of internal reporting.

The "Central and Eastern Europe" segment includes OVB Vermögensberatung A.P.K. Kft., Budapest; OVB Allfinanz a.s., Prague; 
OVB Allfinanz Slovensko a.s. Bratislava; OVB Allfinanz Polska Społka Finansowa Sp. z o.o., Warsaw; OVB Allfinanz Romania Broker 
de Asigurare S.R.L., Cluj; OVB Imofinanz S.R.L., Cluj; OVB Allfinanz Croatia d.o.o., Zagreb; OVB Allfinanz Zastupanje d.o.o., Zagreb; 
EFCON Consulting s.r.o., Brno; EFCON s.r.o., Bratislava and TOB OVB Allfinanz Ukraine, Kiev. 

The “Germany” segment comprises OVB Vermögensberatung AG, Cologne and Eurenta Holding GmbH, Cologne.

The "Southern and Western Europe" segment includes the following companies: OVB Allfinanzvermittlungs GmbH, Wals/Salzburg; 
OVB Vermögensberatung (Schweiz) AG, Cham; OVB-Consulenza Patrimoniale SRL, Verona; OVB Allfinanz España S.L., Madrid; OVB 
(Hellas) Allfinanz Vermittlungs GmbH & Co. KG, Bankprodukte, Athens; OVB Hellas Allfinanzvermittlungs GmbH, Athens; OVB 
Conseils en patrimoine France Sàrl., Strasbourg and Eurenta Hellas Monoprosopi EPE Asfalistiki Praktores, Athens.

The "Corporate Centre" segment includes OVB Holding AG, Cologne; Nord-Soft EDV-Unternehmensberatung GmbH, Horst; 
Nord-Soft Datenservice GmbH, Horst; OVB Informatikai Kft., Budapest; MAC Marketing und Consulting GmbH, Salzburg; Advesto 
GmbH, Cologne; EF-CON Insurance Agency GmbH, Vienna and OVB SW Services s.r.o., Prague. The companies of the Corporate 
Centre segment are not involved in broking financial products but primarily concerned with providing services to the OVB Group. 
The range of services comprises particularly management and consulting services, software and IT services as well as marketing 
services.

Corresponding to the presentation in internal reporting to the Executive Board, the separate items are presented in segment re-
porting after consolidation of investments, inter-segment liabilities and expense and income and after the elimination of interim 
results. Intra-group dividend distributions are not taken into account. For intra-group allocations an appropriate additional over-
head charge is levied on the individual cost items incurred.

Reconciliations of segment items to corresponding group items are made directly in the consolidation column in segment report-
ing. Recognition, disclosure and measurement of the consolidated items in segment reporting correspond to the items presented 
in the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash 
flows and the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

Please refer to the disclosures of related-party transactions for information about relevant product partners.
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2

1

II.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A S S E T S  

Non-current assets 	 2013: EUR’000	 21,282	

		  2012: EUR’000	 21,982

1 	 Intangible assets	 2013: EUR’000	 10,143	

		  2012: EUR’000	 10,619

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Software

	 Software purchased from third parties 8,947 9,603

	 Self-created software 29 64

	 Payments on account for software 544 0

Goodwill 273 520

Other intangible assets 350 432

10,143 10,619

The purchased software relates to a group-wide uniform customer relationship management program (CRM). The carrying 
amount of this CRM system is EUR 8,121 thousand as of 31 December 2013 (previous year: EUR 8,725 thousand).

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing in accordance with IAS 36. The risk-free discount rate applied to goodwill for the 
determination of its value in use is 2.72 per cent (previous year: 3.0 per cent) at a detailed planning horizon of 5 years.

Changes in intangible assets during the financial year are presented in the asset schedule.

The goodwill accounted for at EUR 520 thousand in the previous year faces an expected future receipt of payments that substanti-
ates a carrying amount of EUR 273 thousand as of 31 December 2013.

2	 Tangible assets	 2013: EUR’000	 5,011	

		  2012: EUR’000	 4,483

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Land, land rights and buildings 

	 - Own-use property 1,612 1,818

Other equipment, office and operating equipment 

	 - Machinery, equipment, furniture, vehicles, other 2,199 2,130

	 - IT equipment 871 281

	 - Assets under finance lease 47 28

	 - Tenant fixtures and fittings 161 207

	 - Payments on account of tangible assets under construction 121 19

5,011 4,483
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A land charge entered for one property under the Company’s own use in the amount of EUR 715 thousand (previous year: EUR  
715 thousand) serves as the bank’s security. The underlying loan is valued at EUR 41 thousand as of 31 December 2013 (previous 
year EUR 75 thousand).

Depreciation of EUR 100 thousand (previous year: EUR 111 thousand) was recorded in respect of own-use property.

Please refer to the asset schedule for further details on non-current assets.

Finance lease
The reported item of leased assets to be allocated to the Group in accordance with IAS 17 amounts to EUR 47 thousand as of  
31 December 2013 (previous year: EUR 28 thousand). The total amount of minimum lease payments due within one year is EUR  
15 thousand (previous year: EUR 15 thousand) and the amount due in between one and five years combined is EUR 55 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 31 thousand).

There were no future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable finance leases payable for more than five years. 

The finance leases relate to vehicles. Once the lease agreement has expired there is an option to purchase the assets. There are no 
other options.

3 	 Investment property	 2013: EUR’000	 580	

		  2012: EUR’000	 586

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Rental income from investment property 33 34

Corresponding operating expenses -21 -27

Net gains or losses from adjustment to fair value -6 25

Investment property relates to land in Hamburg, Germany on which an office building has been erected. The value of this property 
decreased in the year under review by EUR 6 thousand. 

The fair value attributable to the property held by the Group as an investment as of 31 December 2013 has been determined by an 
independent valuer. The most recent valuation was prepared in January 2014. 

The determination of the fair value of investment property as of 31 December 2013 is allocated to level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 
according to IFRS 13.

No reallocations between the hierarchy levels have been made in the present financial year. 

The following table shows the valuation technique applied for determining the fair value of investment property as well as the 
material unobservable inputs applied. The fair value is determined as the weighted average of asset value and capitalised value. 
Land value is determined by applying the comparative value method in both valuation models.

3
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Valuation technique Material unobservable inputs 
Connection between material unobservable inputs 
and fair value measurement 

Income approach: The deter-
mination of income is based 
on sustainable annual income, 
esp. rents (gross rental income), 
achievable with the investment 
property less operating expenses. 
The net income thus determined 
is considered for the calculation 
of the capitalised value through 
calculating the present value of 
annuity by applying property yield 
and remaining useful life.  

1. �Net cold rent (sustainable 
market rent): 7 EUR/m2  
(previous year: 7 EUR/m2)

1. �As the rent increases, the fair value of investment 
property is rising.  

2. �Operating expenses:  
17 % of net cold rent  
(previous year: 17 %)

2. �As operating expenses increase, the fair value  
of investment property is going down. 

3. �Property yield: 6.1 %  
(previous year: 6.1 %)

3.		As the property yield increases, the fair value  
	 of investment property is going down. 

4. �Remaining useful life: 34 
years (previous year: 35 years)

4.		As the remaining useful life decreases, the fair 
	 value of investment property is going down.

5. Specific features of the land 5.		Improved specific features of the land increase 	
	 the fair value of investment property. 

Asset value method: The asset 
value of a building is derived from 
the building costs in consideration 
of individual features. The total 
of land value and asset value in 
consideration of the determined 
values of buildings and outdoor fa-
cilities represents the preliminary 
net asset value. The preliminary 
asset value is subject to market ad-
justment in line with the local real 
property market by considering the 
so-called asset value factor.

1. �Building costs and ancillary 
building costs: EUR 1,431 
thousand (previous year:  
EUR 1,401 thousand)

1.		As building costs increase, the fair value of 
	 investment property is rising

2. �Depreciation: 46.88 %  
(previous year: 45.31 %)

2.		As depreciation increases, the fair value of 
	 investment property is going down.

3. �Asset value factor: 0.65  
(previous year: 0.61)

3.		 An increasing asset value factor increases the fair 
	 value of investment property. 

The following table presents the reconciliation statement for investment property from the beginning to the end of the 
year 2013:

Investment property	 1 January 2013: EUR’000	 586 

		  (-/+) Impairment/Appreciation in value: EUR’000 	 -6 

		  31 December 2013: EUR’000	 580

4	 Financial assets 	 2013: EUR’000	 397	

		  2012: EUR’000	 397

Financial assets relate to loans with terms to maturity of more than one year, extended at market interest rates. 

4
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Intangible assets Tangible assets Investment 
property

Financial assets

Software Goodwill

Other 
intangible 

assets Total Operating and office equipment Total Loans

in Euro’000

Purchased 
software 

from external 
third parties

Self-created 
software

Payments on 
account 

of software
Own-use 
property

Machinery, 
equipment, 

furniture, 
vehicles, other

IT 
equipment

Leased 
assets under 
finance lease

Tenant 
fixtures 

and fittings

Payments on 
account of 

tangible assets 
in progress

Historical cost

	 31/12/2012 27,565 4,110 320 11,292 2,488 45,775 3,407 7,363 3,653 75 1,535 19 16,052 1,101 397

	 Currency translation differences -63 -39 -5 -76 -4 -187 -169 -81 -18 0 -2 0 -271 0 -17

	 01/01/2013 27,502 4,071 315 11,216 2,484 45,588 3,238 7,282 3,635 75 1,533 19 15,783 1,101 380

	 Change in consolidated Group 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 Additions 586 0 545 0 103 1,234 5 894 825 43 5 121 1,891 0 243

	 Disposals 103 11 0 0 0 114 0 902 61 0 13 19 995 0 226

	 Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

31/12/2013 27,985 4,060 860 11,216 2,587 46,708 3,243 7,274 4,399 118 1,525 121 16,679 1,101 397

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation

	 31/12/2012 17,962 3,979 320 9,416 1,953 33,630 1,589 5,233 3,372 47 1,328 0 11,569 0 0

	 Currency translation differences -51 -39 -4 0 -6 -100 -58 -63 -13 0 -1 0 -135 0 0

	 01/01/2013 17,911 3,940 316 9,416 1,947 33,530 1,531 5,170 3,359 47 1,327 0 11,434 0 0

	 Change in consolidated Group 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 Additions 1,230 35 0 0 153 1,418 100 753 229 24 48 0 1,154 0 0

	 Disposals 102 10 0 0 0 112 0 848 60 0 12 0 920 0 0

	 Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

31/12/2013 19,039 3,965 316 9,416 2,100 34,836 1,631 5,075 3,528 71 1,363 0 11,668 0 0

Accumulated impairments

	 31/12/2012 0 67 0 1,356 103 1,526 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 515 0

	 Currency translation differences 0 0 0 -76 0 -76 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 01/01/2013 0 67 0 1,280 103 1,450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 515 0

	 Change in consolidated Group 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 Impairments 0 0 0 247 32 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0

	 Impairment loss reversal 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

31/12/2013 0 67 0 1,527 135 1,729 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 521 0

Book value 31/12/2013 8,947 29 544 273 350 10,143 1,612 2,199 871 47 162 121 5,011 580 397

Book value 31/12/2012 9,603 64 0 520 432 10,619 1,818 2,130 281 28 207 19 4,483 586 397

OVB Holding AG
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Intangible assets Tangible assets Investment 
property

Financial assets

Software Goodwill

Other 
intangible 

assets Total Operating and office equipment Total Loans

in Euro’000

Purchased 
software 

from external 
third parties

Self-created 
software

Payments on 
account 

of software
Own-use 
property

Machinery, 
equipment, 

furniture, 
vehicles, other

IT 
equipment

Leased 
assets under 
finance lease

Tenant 
fixtures 

and fittings

Payments on 
account of 

tangible assets 
in progress

Historical cost

	 31/12/2012 27,565 4,110 320 11,292 2,488 45,775 3,407 7,363 3,653 75 1,535 19 16,052 1,101 397

	 Currency translation differences -63 -39 -5 -76 -4 -187 -169 -81 -18 0 -2 0 -271 0 -17

	 01/01/2013 27,502 4,071 315 11,216 2,484 45,588 3,238 7,282 3,635 75 1,533 19 15,783 1,101 380

	 Change in consolidated Group 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 Additions 586 0 545 0 103 1,234 5 894 825 43 5 121 1,891 0 243

	 Disposals 103 11 0 0 0 114 0 902 61 0 13 19 995 0 226

	 Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

31/12/2013 27,985 4,060 860 11,216 2,587 46,708 3,243 7,274 4,399 118 1,525 121 16,679 1,101 397

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation

	 31/12/2012 17,962 3,979 320 9,416 1,953 33,630 1,589 5,233 3,372 47 1,328 0 11,569 0 0

	 Currency translation differences -51 -39 -4 0 -6 -100 -58 -63 -13 0 -1 0 -135 0 0

	 01/01/2013 17,911 3,940 316 9,416 1,947 33,530 1,531 5,170 3,359 47 1,327 0 11,434 0 0

	 Change in consolidated Group 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 Additions 1,230 35 0 0 153 1,418 100 753 229 24 48 0 1,154 0 0

	 Disposals 102 10 0 0 0 112 0 848 60 0 12 0 920 0 0

	 Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

31/12/2013 19,039 3,965 316 9,416 2,100 34,836 1,631 5,075 3,528 71 1,363 0 11,668 0 0

Accumulated impairments

	 31/12/2012 0 67 0 1,356 103 1,526 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 515 0

	 Currency translation differences 0 0 0 -76 0 -76 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 01/01/2013 0 67 0 1,280 103 1,450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 515 0

	 Change in consolidated Group 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 Impairments 0 0 0 247 32 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0

	 Impairment loss reversal 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

	 Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

31/12/2013 0 67 0 1,527 135 1,729 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 521 0

Book value 31/12/2013 8,947 29 544 273 350 10,143 1,612 2,199 871 47 162 121 5,011 580 397

Book value 31/12/2012 9,603 64 0 520 432 10,619 1,818 2,130 281 28 207 19 4,483 586 397

OVB Holding AG
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5	 Deferred tax assets 	 2013: EUR’000	 5,151	

		  2012: EUR’000	 5,897
Deferred tax assets can be broken down by reported item as follows: 

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Goodwill 33 7

Tangible assets and other intangible assets 13 16

Financial assets 1 1

Financial instruments 264 159

Other assets 31 52

Provisions 1,724 1,805

Liabilities 1,843 1,843

Tax loss carry-forward 1,753 2,558

5,662 6,441

Net off deferred tax liabilities -512 -544

5,151 5,897

Deferred taxes are recognised for previously unused loss carry-forward to the extent that it is probable according to current planning 
that taxable income will be available in the future.

All in all, no deferred taxes were recognised for loss carry-forward of EUR 18,957 thousand (previous year: EUR 23,210 thousand) for 
group companies. This would have corresponded with deferred tax assets of EUR 4,956 thousand (previous year: EUR 6,196 thousand).

Of this loss carry-forward, the amount of EUR 3,624 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,006 thousand) can be utilised over a period of 
between 5 and 15 years. The amount of EUR 15,333 thousand (previous year: EUR 18,204 thousand) can be carried forward indefinitely.

B	 Current assets 	 2013: EUR’000	 125,448	

		  2012: EUR’000	 131,625

6 	 Trade receivables	 2013: EUR’000 	 21,644	

		  2012: EUR’000 	 23,976

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Trade receivables   

1. Receivables from insurance brokerage 19,539 21,936

2. Receivables from other brokerage 989 753

3. Other trade receivables 1,116 1,287

21,644 23,976

The development of valuation allowances on trade receivables is as follows:

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Valuation allowances as of 1 January 138 327

Exchange rate differences -10 1

Additions (valuation allowance expense) 70 132

Consumption 114 311

Reversals 25 11

Valuation allowances as of 31 December 59 138

Trade receivables in the amount of EUR 2,292 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,022 thousand) have remaining terms to maturity of 
more than one year.

6
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1. Receivables from insurance brokerage
Receivables from insurance brokerage relate primarily to claims for commission against product providers. They do not bear 
interest and are generally due within 30 days.

2. Receivables from other brokerage
Receivables from other brokerage relate primarily to claims for commission against product providers not qualifying as insurance 
companies. Those receivables do not bear interest and generally fall due within 30 days.

3. Other trade receivables 
Other trade receivables include all receivables that do not relate to brokerage services. 

7	 Receivables and other assets	 2013: EUR’000	 28,177	

		  2012: EUR’000	 30,285

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

7.1 Other receivables 17,690 21,018

7.2 Other assets 10,487 9,267

28,177 30,285

Receivables and other assets usually have terms to maturity of less than one year. An exception are claims for commission of 
former financial advisors, valued altogether at EUR 10,869 thousand as of the reporting date (previous year: EUR 8,819 thousand). 
Of this total, claims of EUR 8,991 thousand have terms to maturity of more than one year (previous year: EUR 7,582 thousand).  

7.1	Other receivables

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 

Other receivables

	 1. Receivables from financial advisors 12,163 16,008

	 2. Receivables from employees 164 252

	 3. Miscellaneous other receivables 5,078 4,704

	 4. Other taxes 285 54

17,690 21,018

Changes in valuation allowances on other receivables are as follows:

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Valuation allowances as of 1 January 17.205 16.726

Exchange rate differences -111 115

Additions (valuation allowance expense) 3.191 2.858

Consumption 1.629 1.636

Reversals 740 858

Valuation allowances as of 31 December 17.916 17.205

Additions to valuation allowances on other receivables relate to receivables from financial advisors. Risk provisions are made with 
regard to all available information concerning the credit rating of the debtors and the age structure of the receivables.

7
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1. Receivables from financial advisors 
Receivables from financial advisors primarily relate to advance commission payments and claims for commission refunds. They 
usually fall due within 30 days. Receivables from an individual former financial advisor are offset against liabilities to that same 
financial advisor if they fall due at the same time, irrespective of the legal basis on which the receivables and liabilities arose. If  
the receivables exceed the liabilities, the relevant amount is recorded under other receivables. If liabilities exceed receivables, the 
relevant amount is reported under trade payables. Provisions for cancellation risk with respect to active financial advisors serve 
the purpose of covering potential future commission refund claims and are presented under other liabilities.

Individual valuation allowances are made with regard to all available information concerning the credit rating of the debtors and 
the age structure of the receivables. A distinction is also made between active and former financial advisors. Due to the large 
number of individual receivables due from different financial advisors, lump sum valuation allowances are also made up to a 
certain amount based on receivables categories which are determined on the basis of an assessment of the respective debtor's 
value-defining factors.

2. Receivables from employees
Receivables from employees generally relate to receivables arising as a result of short-term loans.

3. Miscellaneous other receivables 
Miscellaneous other receivables include all receivables from third parties as of the reporting date not allocated to any other item 
in the statement of financial position. The item also comprises the portion of acquired commission claims of former financial 
advisors allotted to brokerage concluded as of the acquisition date.  

4. Other taxes
Other taxes include only other current tax assets e.g. for overpaid income tax, value-added tax and property tax that can be 
determined exactly or for which there is a tax assessment notice.

7.2	Other assets 	 2013: EUR’000	 10,487

		  2012: EUR’000	 9,267

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 

Other assets

	 1. Accrued investment income 71 168

	 2. Prepaid expenses 489 424

	 3. Advertising and office supplies 532 558

	 4. Payments on account 356 673

	 5. Acquired future commission claims 8,767 7,163

	 6. Miscellaneous other assets 272 281

10,487 9,267

1. Accrued investment income
Accrued investment income includes accrued income from financial assets and short-term investments.

2. Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses relate primarily to prepaid office rent for the following year and insurance premiums.

3. Advertising and office supplies 
This item includes advertising materials for the sales force and other material used in sales and administration.

4. Payments on account 
This item primarily relates to short-term advance payments for incentive events. 

5. Acquired future commission claims 
This item regards the portion of commission claims of two financial advisors acquired for a consideration relating to the probable 
brokerage of contracts after the acquisition date. 
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6. Miscellaneous other assets 
Miscellaneous other assets comprise all assets that exist as of the reporting date and are not attributed to any other item in the 
statement of financial position.

8	 Income tax assets	 2013: EUR’000	 2,296

		  2012: EUR’000	 2,402

Income tax receivables primarily relate to income tax payments on account. Such receivables exist in particular for OVB Allfinanz 
a.s., Prague and OVB Holding AG, Cologne.

9	 Securities and other investments	 2013: EUR’000	 34,961

		  2012: EUR’000	 39,236

in EUR’000 2013  2012 

Securities
Other  

investments Total Securities
Other  

investments Total

Historical cost 5,829 29,923 35,752 6,040 33,823 39,863

Revaluation reserve 184 184 350 350

Impairment -974 -974 -977 -977

Market value 5,039 29,923 34,961 5,413 33,823 39,236

Carrying amount 5,039 29,923 34,961 5,413 33,823 39,236

 
In the past financial year write-downs on securities were recognised in profit or loss in the amount of EUR 19 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 61 thousand). The write-downs are included in the financial result in “Investment expenses” under item 33. The reversal of 
impairment loss on securities is also disclosed in the financial result, item 33, under “Reversal of impairment loss on investments”.   

The revaluation reserve decreased by the amount of EUR 166 thousand in the past financial year (previous year: EUR + 29 thousand). 
Net losses or gains were not incurred in the financial year (previous year: net loss of EUR 68 thousand).  

Other investments particularly include fixed-term deposits and cash equivalents with a maturity of more than three months as well 
as short-term loans. Interest-bearing investments are recognised at cost if market interest rates apply or otherwise at present value.

The determination of the fair value of securities held in the amount EUR 5,039 thousand is allocated to level 1 of the valuation hierarchy 
according to IFRS 13 and considers market or exchange prices. 

No reclassification between valuation hierarchy levels has been made in this financial year. 

10	  Cash and cash equivalents	 2013: EUR’000	 38,370	

		  2012: EUR’000	 35,726

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 

Cash 41 34

Cash equivalents 38,329 35,692

38,370 35,726

Cash means cash-in-hand of the group companies as of the reporting date in domestic and foreign currencies. Cash equivalents are 
assets that can be immediately converted to cash. They include bank balances in domestic and foreign currencies with maturities of 
three months or less, cheques and stamps. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at face value and foreign currencies are trans-
lated into euros at the closing rate.

10
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E Q U I T Y  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S

A	 Equity	 2013: EUR’000	 83,042	

		  2012: EUR’000	 83,377
The development of equity is shown in the statement of changes in equity.

11	 Subscribed capital	 2013: EUR’000	 14,251

		  2012: EUR’000	 14,251

The subscribed capital (share capital) of OVB Holding AG amounts to EUR 14,251 thousand as of 31 December 2013 and consists  
of 14,251,314 no-par value ordinary bearer shares (previous year: 14,251,314 shares).

12	 Capital reserve	 2013: EUR’000	 39,342

		  2012: EUR’000	 39,342

The capital reserve primarily comprises premiums from the issue of shares in circulation.

13	 Treasury shares

OVB Holding AG did not hold any treasury shares in the year under review. There were no transactions in the Company’s ordinary 
shares or options on its ordinary shares in the period between the reporting date and the date of preparing the consolidated financial 
statements.

The Annual General Meeting of OVB Holding AG of 11 June 2010 authorised the Executive Board to acquire, subject to the Supervi-
sory Board's approval, up to a total of 300,000 of the Company’s bearer shares in one or several transactions up to and including 
10 June 2015. Shares acquired on the basis of this authorisation may also be retired.

14	 Revenue reserves	 2013: EUR’000	 13,785

		  2012: EUR’000	 13,646

15	 Other reserves	 2013: EUR’000	 865

		  2012: EUR’000	 1,3851)

Other reserves essentially comprise currency translation reserve, pension reserves and the available-for-sale reserve/revaluation 
reserve.

Unrealised gains and losses from financial instruments are recognised in the revaluation reserve after accounting for deferred taxes.

Changes in revaluation reserve and currency translation reserve over the reporting period are shown in the statement of changes 
in equity. 

16	 Non-controlling interests  	 2013: EUR’000	 152

		  2012: EUR’000	 150

Other shareholders hold non-controlling interests in Nord-Soft Datenservice GmbH and Nord-Soft EDV-Unternehmensberatung GmbH.

Changes from the previous year represent the proportionate share in the net income of the Nord-Soft entities for the year under review.

14

15

16
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1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised
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 17	 Retained earnings	 2013: EUR’000	 14,647

		  2012: EUR’000	 14,603

Distributable profits and dividends  
Distributable amounts relate to the retained earnings of OVB Holding AG determined in accordance with German commercial 
and stock corporation law. 

At the Annual General Meeting of 21 June 2013, the shareholders adopted the resolution on the appropriation of the retained earn-
ings of OVB Holding AG for financial year 2012.  

In financial year 2013 a dividend of EUR 7,838 thousand was distributed to the shareholders, equivalent to EUR 0.55 per no-par val-
ue share. The dividend was paid out to the shareholders of OVB Holding AG on 24 June 2013.

In accordance with Section 170 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act), the Executive Board of OVB Holding AG proposes the follow-
ing appropriation of the retained earnings as reported in the financial statements of OVB Holding AG as of 31 December 2013:

in EUR 2013

Distribution to shareholders 7,838,222.70

Profit carry-forward 5,947,168.64

Retained earnings 13,785,391.34

The dividend payout is thus equivalent to EUR 0.55 per share (previous year: EUR 0.55 per share). 

The number of shares carrying dividend rights and thus the amount distributable to shareholders may change prior to the Annual 
General Meeting due to the Executive Board’s option to purchase treasury shares.   

B	 Non-current liabilities	 2013: EUR’000	 1,840

		  2012: EUR’000	 1,859

Non-current liabilities are reclassified as current liabilities if the remaining term to maturity is less than twelve months.

The following liabilities schedule shows non-current liabilities broken down by remaining term to maturity:

Maturity of liabilities as of 31/12/2013

 in EUR’000 
Type of liability Total amount

1 year to less 
than 3 years

3 years to less 
than 5 years

5 and more 
years No maturity

Secured 
amount

Liabilities to banks 241 241 0 0 0 0

Other liabilities 87 87 0 0 0 0

Maturity of liabilities as of 31/12/2012

in EUR’000 
Type of liability Total amount

1 year to less 
than 3 years

3 years to less 
than 5 years

5 and more 
years No maturity

Secured 
amount

Liabilities to banks 287 87 200 0 0 0

Other liabilities 46 46 0 0 0 0

17
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18	 Liabilities to banks	 2013: EUR’000	 241

		  2012: EUR’000	 287

The item “Liabilities to banks” includes long-term bank loans for setting up the businesses of subsidiaries in the amount of  
EUR 200 thousand (previous year: EUR 212 thousand) and for financing own-use property in the amount of EUR 41 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 75 thousand). Repayments on the first loan amounted to EUR 12 thousand (previous year: EUR 7 thousand)  
and on the second loan EUR 34 thousand (previous year: EUR 47 thousand).  

19	 Provisions	 2013: EUR’000	 1,407

		  2012: EUR’000	 1,351

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 

Provisions for pensions 873 911

Long-term provisions for employees 532 408

Other long-term provisions 2 32

1,407 1,351

in EUR’000 01/01/2013
Exchange rate 

differences Allocation Consumption Release 31/12/2013

Provisions for pensions 911 -2 90 126 0 873

Long-term provisions for 
employees 408 0 126 1 0 532

Other long-term provisions 32 0 1 32 0 2

1,351 -2 218 159 0 1,407

The interest effects included in additions are immaterial.

On provisions for pensions
OVB Holding AG is under the obligation to pay pension benefits. The following pension benefits are granted to the beneficiary:

n	 a retirement pension from the age of 65

n	 disability pension 

An employee's pension expectancy is equivalent to 10 per cent of the employee's last monthly salary. 

OVB Vermögensberatung (Schweiz) AG, Cham is under statutory obligation to pay pension benefits to four commercial employ-
ees. The following pension benefits are granted to the beneficiaries:

n	 retirement benefits

n	 pension for surviving dependents

n	 disability pension

OVB Allfinanzvermittlungs GmbH, Wals/Salzburg has an obligation to grant pension benefits by way of settlement obligation  
to three employees once they reach the statutory retirement age or if they take early retirement in accordance with the relevant 
statutory provisions, or if they leave the company for good cause (disability or inability to work), or in the event of their death.

18
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Provisions for pensions can be broken down by subsidiary as follows:

Pension provisions as of 31/12/2013

in EUR’000 OVB Holding AG OVB Switzerland OVB Austria

Defined benefit obligations as of 1/1/2013 593 627 186

Exchange rate changes 0 -9 0

Service cost 0 33 12

Past service cost 0 2 0

Interest expense/income 21 12 7

Gains (-) and losses (+) from revaluation:

	 - �Actuarial gains and losses from changes in demographic 
assumptions 0 53 0

	 - �Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial  
assumptions 0 -22 2

	 - Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments 37 -2 -18

Contributions:

	 - �Employers 0 0 -119

	 - �Plan participants 0 21 0

Pension plan payments:

	 - �Current payments 0 -31 0

	 - �Compensation 0 0 0

Defined benefit obligations as of 31/12/2013 651 684 71

Plan assets as of 1/1/2013 0 495 0

Exchange rate changes 0 -7 0

Contributions:

	 - �Employers 0 39 0

	 - �Plan participants 0 21 0

Expected investment income 0 0 0

Pension plan payments:

	 - �Current payments 0 -31 0

	 - �Compensation 0 0 0

Interest expense/income 0 10 0

Gains (-) and losses (+) from revaluation:

	 - �Income from plan assets not including interest income 0 8 0

Plan assets as of 31/12/2013 0 533 0

Pension provisions as of 31/12/2013 651 151 71
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Pension provisions as of 31/12/2012

in EUR’000 OVB Holding AG OVB Switzerland OVB Austria

Defined benefit obligations as of 1/1/2012 476 549 172

Exchange rate changes 0 5 0

Service cost 0 34 13

Past service cost 0 0 0

Interest expense/income 24 14 9

Gains (-) and losses (+) from revaluation:

	 - �Actuarial gains and losses from changes in demographic 
assumptions 0 0 0

	 - �Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial 
assumptions 0 12 30

	 - Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments 93 13 4

Transfer 0 0 -29

Contributions:

	 - �Employers 0 0 0

	 - �Plan participants 0 23 0

Pension plan payments:

	 - �Current payments 0 -23 -12

	 - �Compensation 0 0 0

Defined benefit obligations as of 31/12/2012 593 627 186

Plan assets as of 1/1/2012 0 430 0

Exchange rate changes 0 3 0

Contributions:

	 - �Employers 0 45 0

	 - �Plan participants 0 23 0

Expected investment income 0 0 0

Pension plan payments:

	 - �Current payments 0 -24 0

	 - �Compensation 0 0 0

Interest expense/income 0 11 0

Gains (-) and losses (+) from revaluation:

	 - �Income from plan assets not including interest income 0 7 0

Plan assets as of 31/12/2012 0 495 0

Pension provisions as of 31/12/2012 593 132 186

The actuarial expert assessments were prepared by the companies Mercer Human Resources Consulting GmbH and Helvetia Con-
sulta Gesellschaft für Vorsorgeberatung AG respectively. The expert opinions are based on the following actuarial assumptions:
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2013

OVB Holding AG OVB Switzerland OVB Austria 

Discount rate 3.17 % 2.25 % 3.40 %

Expected future salary increases 0.00 % 1.00 % 1.50 %

Expected future pension adjustments 2.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 %

Expected inflation rate 2.00 % 1.40 % 0.00 %

2012

OVB Holding AG OVB Switzerland OVB Austria 

Discount rate 3.60 % 2.00 % 3.60 %

Expected future salary increases 0.00 % 1.00 % 1.50 %

Expected future pension adjustments 2.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 %

Expected inflation rate 2.00 % 0.80 % 0.00 %

Current service cost is included in personnel expense. The interest expense of the defined benefit obligation is included in finance 
expense.

Plan assets of OVB Switzerland are divided into the following categories:

n	 Debt instruments 50.4 per cent (2012: 62.4 per cent)

n	 Real property 13.3 per cent (2012: 17.0 per cent)

n	 Equity instruments 26.5 per cent (2012: 15.2 per cent)

n	 Other assets 9.9 per cent (2012: 5.4 per cent).

Provisions for pensions according to IAS 19 have changed as follows:

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Pension provisions according to IAS 19 as of 01/01 911 799

Exchange rate differences -2 2

+ changes in pension provisions OVB Holding AG 59 134

+ changes in pension provisions OVB Switzerland 20 -38

+ changes in pension provisions OVB Austria -115 14

Pension provisions according to IAS 19 as of 31/12 873 911

in EUR’000  Amount of obligation 

Changes in  
assumption

Increase in  
assumption

Decrease in  
assumption

OVB Holding AG

Discount rate 0.25 % 633 671

OVB Switzerland

Discount rate 0.25 % 634 744

Expected future salary increase 0.25 % 711 660

Expected future pension adjustment 0.25 % 706

OVB Austria

Discount rate 0.25 % 68 74

Expected future salary increase 0.25 % 74 68
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The sensitivity analysis presented above is based on changes in one parameter as the other parameters remain constant. This 
isolated constellation will be extremely rare in reality as input parameters dynamics are often connected. Sensitivity assessment 
applies the projected unit credit method, also applied for determining the defined benefit obligation.

The funding of the acquired benefit claims is not uniformly regulated at the subsidiaries of the OVB Group. At OVB Switzerland 
financing is provided by employer and employees at 50 per cent each with respect to the basic plan. The employer pays the con-
tributions to the staff plan in full. At OVB Austria the employer fully provides the financing of severance payment obligations. At 
OVB Holding AG pension obligations are financed entirely by the Company. 

The expected contributions to the pension plans for benefits after termination of employment altogether amount to EUR  
66 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

The weighted average term of the defined benefit obligations is 12.6 years.

On long-term provisions for employees 
Long-term provisions for employees primarily relate to provisions set aside for anniversary bonus payments. 

20	 Other liabilities	 2013: EUR’000	 87

		  2012: EUR’000	 46

Other liabilities relate to capitalised lease liabilities and equate to the present value of future lease payments.

21	 Deferred tax liabilities	 2013: EUR’000	 105

		  2012: EUR’000	 175

Deferred tax liabilities concern the following items in the statement of financial position:

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Goodwill 89 169

Tangible assets and intangible assets 18 12

Financial instruments 123 111

Other assets 1 0

Provisions 385 345

Liabilities 1 82

617 719

Net of deferred tax assets -512 -544

105 175

C	 Current liabilities	 2013: EUR’000	 61,848

		  2012: EUR’000	 68,371

Liabilities with a remaining term to maturity of less than twelve months are classified as current liabilities.

22	 Provisions for taxes	 2013: EUR’000	 1,405

		  2012: EUR’000	 3,277

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 

Income tax provisions 1,166 3,037

Other tax provisions 240 240

1,405 3,277

22
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in EUR’000 01/01/2013
Exchange rate 

differences Allocation Consumption Reversal 31/12/2013

Tax provisions 3,277 -160 1,086 2,747 51 1,405

23	 Other provisions	 2013: EUR’000	 26,021

		  2012: EUR’000	 29,525

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

1. Cancellation risk 13,237 13,433

2. Unbilled liabilities 10,102 12,740

3. Legal disputes 763 1,266

24,101 27,439

4. Others

	 - Obligations to employees 661 742

	 - Costs of preparing annual financial statements / Audit costs 599 479

	 - Other obligations 660 865

1,919 2,086

26,021 29,525

in EUR’000 01/01/2013
Exchange rate 

differences Additions Consumption Reversal 31/12/2013

1. Cancellation risk 13,433 -331 1,492 1,357 0 13,237

2. Unbilled liabilities 12,740 -429 9,269 10,952 526 10,102

3. Legal disputes 1,266 -77 414 519 322 763

4. Others 2,086 -39 1,446 1,495 78 1,919

29,525 -877 12,621 14,322 926 26,021

Additions include expenses from the accumulation of interest on provisions in the amount of EUR 104 thousand (previous year: EUR 
74 thousand). Provisions for cancellation risk are generally recognised as current provisions due to uncertainty in respect of the time 
and extent of their utilisation. Assumed that the clients’ cancellation behaviour equals that of the recent past, the resulting non-cur-
rent portion would amount to approx. EUR 4,190 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,600 thousand).

24	 Income tax liabilities 	 2013: EUR’000	 306

		  2012: EUR’000	 61

Income tax liabilities primarily originate from taxation of earnings generated over the previous years.

Notes to the consolidated statement of financial position
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25	 Trade payables 	 2013: EUR’000	 6,724

		  2012: EUR’000	 6,799

This item includes commission billed by financial advisors unless categorised as retained security as well as bonuses accrued as of 
the reporting date but not yet paid. Liabilities are measured at payable amounts.

Trade payables also include liabilities based on recurrent and period-based payments such as insurance premiums, telephone 
charges, electricity charges and rent.

Maturity of liabilities as of 31/12/2013:

in EUR’000 
Type of liability

Total 
amount Overdue Due daily 

Less than 3 
months

3 – 6 
months

6 – 12 
months

No 
maturity 

Trade payables 6,724 3 436 2,136 2,195 0 1,954

Maturity of liabilities as of 31/12/2012:

in EUR’000 
Type of liability

Total 
amount Overdue Due daily 

Less than 3 
months

3 – 6 
months

6 – 12 
months

No 
maturity 

Trade payables 6,799 46 648 1,944 2,186 0 1,975

26	 Other liabilities	 2013: EUR’000	 27,392

		  2012: EUR’000	 28,709

Maturity of liabilities as of 31/12/2013: 

in EUR’000 
Type of liability

Total 
amount Overdue Due daily 

Less than 3 
months

3 – 6 
months

6 – 12 
months

No 
maturity 

1. Retained security 23,424 101 99 2,859 6,406 122 13,838

2. Liabilities based on other taxes 973 0 297 669 7 0 0

3. Liabilities to employees 1,989 0 611 1,272 59 0 47

4. Liabilities to product partners 647 0 6 6 0 0 635

5. Liabilities to banks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6. Other liabilities to sales agents 16 0 0 0 6 0 16

7. Miscellaneous liabilities 343 1 135 156 28 0 23

Total 27,392 102 1,148 4,961 6,500 122 14,558

26
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Maturity of liabilities as of 31/12/2012:

in EUR’000 
Type of liability

Total 
amount Overdue Due daily 

Less than 3 
months

3 – 6 
months

6 – 12 
months

No 
maturity 

1. Retained security 25,163 62 93 645 7,724 2,721 13,918

2. Liabilities based on other taxes 849 0 220 586 43 0 0

3. Liabilities to employees 1,407 0 33 1,257 66 0 51

4. Liabilities to product partners 730 18 3 0 23 0 686

5. Liabilities to banks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6. Other liabilities to sales agents 44 0 0 0 6 0 38

7. Miscellaneous liabilities 516 14 169 287 28 0 18

Total 28,709 94 518 2,775 7,890 2,721 14,711

There are no liabilities with terms to maturity of more than 12 months.

1. Retained security 
Retained security includes provisions for cancellation risk set aside on account of financial advisors. This security is retained in or-
der to cover anticipated commission refund claims.

2. Liabilities based on other taxes
Tax liabilities only include other actual tax liabilities that can be exactly determined or that have already been assessed.

3. Liabilities to employees 
Payments to employees due in the short term for work performed, such as holiday pay, bonuses or premiums as well as benefits 
paid to employees due to the termination of employment are reported under this item at estimated settlement amounts.

4 . Liabilities to product partners 
Liabilities to non-affiliated product partners generally result from the reversal of commission entries and are paid by OVB as they 
arise during the course of business. These liabilities are measured at nominal value.

5. Liabilities to banks
Current liabilities to banks are those with a maturity of twelve months or less from the reporting date. They are measured at nom-
inal value.

6. Other liabilities to sales agents
This item includes current liabilities to the sales force that are not related to brokerage services.

7. Miscellaneous liabilities
Miscellaneous liabilities comprise all liabilities that are not attributable to any of the above positions. The item essentially includes 
liabilities from social security contributions and deferrals.
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III.	Notes to the consolidated income statement

27	 Brokerage income	 2013: EUR’000	 187,581

		  2012: EUR’000	 194,465

All income from product partners is recognised as brokerage income. Apart from commission, it also includes bonuses and other 
distribution-related benefits paid by product partners. To provide for the case of reimbursements of commission to product part-
ners upon contract cancellation/default, corresponding provisions are created on the basis of past experience (provisions for can-
cellation risk). Changes in provisions for cancellation risk are credited or charged on account of brokerage income.

28	 Other operating income	 2013: EUR’000	 8,658

		  2012: EUR’000	 9,030

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Refunds from financial advisors 2,724 3,077

Income from release of provisions 977 968

Own work capitalised 40 259

Income from the cancellation of expired liabilities 1,200 1,034

Rental income from sub-leases 69 111

Income from the disposal of intangible assets and tangible assets 36 60

Reversals of impairment loss 898 948

Income from currency translation 102 338

Contributions to costs made by partners 597 332

Other 2,013 1,903

8,658 9,030

Refunds from financial advisors generally arise from participation in seminars, use of materials and the lease of IT equipment. 

Own work capitalised relates to CRM software (cf. the asset schedule).

Other income relates to contributions made by product partners toward the cost of materials, personnel, representation, training 
and events as well as insurance payouts.

Reversals of impairment loss primarily concern receivables from financial advisors.

29	 Brokerage expenses	 2013: EUR’000	 -121,826

		  2012: EUR’000	 -128,813

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Current commission -109,755 -117,223

Other commission -12,071 -11,590

-121,826 -128,813

This item includes all payments to financial advisors. Current commission comprises all directly performance-based commission, 
i.e. new business commission, dynamic commission and policy service commission. All other commission linked to a specific 
purpose, e.g. other performance-based remuneration, is reported under "other commission".

28
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30	 Personnel expense	 2013: EUR’000	 -25,549 

		  2012: EUR’000	 -24,3161)

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Wages and salaries -21,151 -20,353

Social security -3,904 -3,636

Expenses for retirement provision -494 -3271)

-25,549 -24,316

1) Adjusted due to application of IAS 19 revised

31	 Depreciation and amortisation	 2013: EUR’000	 -2,870	

		  2012: EUR’000	 -3,180 

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Amortisation/Impairment of intangible assets -1,702 -1,976

Depreciation of tangible assets -1,168 -1,204

-2,870 -3,180

Depreciation and amortisation in financial year 2013 are shown in the asset schedule. 

32	 Other operating expenses	 2013: EUR’000	 -35,786

		  2012: EUR’000	 -36,494

 

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Administrative expenses

Legal, financial statement and consulting expenses -4,260 -4,132

Facility expenses -2,561 -2,537

Communication costs -1,138 -1,216

IT expenses -3,162 -3,082

Vehicle expenses -626 -649

Rent for furniture and equipment -121 -134

Other administrative expenses -3,552 -4,160

-15,420 -15,910

Sales and marketing costs

Seminars, competitions, functions -7,818 -8,258

Advertising cost, public relations -1,991 -2,325

Write-down on/Allowances for receivables -4,097 -4,234

Other sales and marketing costs -3,723 -2,704

-17,629 -17,521

Other operating expenses

Foreign currency loss -262 -126

Supervisory Board remuneration -126 -125

Losses from disposal of investments -17 -81

Miscellaneous expenses -392 -365

-797 -697

Non-income-based taxes 

Value added tax on purchased goods/services -1,735 -2,150

Other non-income-based tax -205 -216

-1,941 -2,366

-35,786 -36,494

31
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Other administrative expenses essentially relate to travel expenses, expenses for insurance, fees and contributions, money trans-
fer costs and office supplies.

Other sales and marketing costs particularly relate to cost of material, entertainment expenses and sales support expenses. 

Miscellaneous expenses concern among others expenses for the preparation of financial reports and the Annual General Meeting 
as well as all expenses that are not attributable to any of the above positions.

Other non-income-based taxes essentially relate to taxes on representation expenses, vehicle tax and property tax.

Operating lease
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases essentially comprise future lease payments of group 
companies for office space of the respective head offices and can be broken down as follows: 

in EUR’000 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Twelve months or less 2,347 2,266

Between one year and five years 6,610 5,281

More than five years 1,342 2,237

10,299 9,784

Payments under leases recognised in profit or loss can be broken down as follows: 

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Amount of minimum lease payments 2,780 2,179

Contingent rent 2 3

2,782 2,182

Amount of sub-lease payments 50 56

2,832 2,238

Payments were made under operating leases for the following commodities: vehicles, telephone equipment, photocopiers and other 
operating and office equipment as well as office space. The terms of these leases range between 3 and 36 months. Contingent rent essen-
tially includes payments for contract provisions that consider actual use of photocopiers and extra mileage for vehicles.

Within the framework of letting office space in the building declared as “investment property”, OVB Holding AG also acts as lessor. Resulting 
future minimum lease payments up to twelve months amount to EUR 8 thousand (previous year: EUR 26 thousand) and those of more 
than year amount to EUR 0 thousand (previous year: EUR 4 thousand).

33	 Financial result 	 2013: EUR’000	 937	

		  2012: EUR’000	 1,371

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Finance income

Bank interest 562 1,055

Income from securities 155 280

Reversal of impairment loss on investments 22 45

Income from investment property (net) 12 32

Interest income from loans 46 41

Other interest income and similar income 339 299

1,136 1,752

Finance expense

Interest expense and similar expenses -180 -320

Investments expenses -19 -61

-199 -381

Financial result 937 1,371

33
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Interest income and interest expense are recognised on an accrual basis.

Income from securities primarily relates to interest credits and dividends as well as distributions from investment funds. 

34	 Taxes on income	 2013: EUR’000	 -3,122	

		  2012: EUR’000	 -3,789

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Current income tax -2,475 -3,538

Deferred income tax -646 -251

-3,122 -3,789

Tax expenses include foreign current taxes in the amount of EUR 2,706 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,050 thousand) and foreign 
deferred tax assets of EUR 64 thousand (previous year: deferred tax assets of EUR 640 thousand).

Current and deferred taxes are determined on the basis of domestic tax rates applicable in the respective country. Deferred taxes 
for domestic companies were calculated on the basis of a company tax rate of 15.0 per cent (previous year: 15.0 per cent), the soli-
darity surcharge of 5.5 per cent (previous year: 5.5 per cent) and an average trade tax rate of 16.625 per cent (previous year: 16.625 
per cent).

In addition to the amount recognised in the consolidated income statement, deferred taxes of EUR 39 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 33 thousand) relating to items recognised outside profit or loss were settled outside profit or loss.

The effective income tax rate applied to the result from ordinary business activities before income tax comes to 28.01 per cent 
(previous year: 31.45 per cent).

The following reconciliation statement shows the connection between the result from ordinary business activities and taxes on 
income in the financial year. The anticipated tax expense is calculated on the basis of the combined German income tax rate of 
currently 32.45 per cent.

Reconciliation statement

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Earnings before income tax according to IFRS 11,144 11,916

Consolidated income tax rate 32.45 % 32.45 %

Theoretical income tax expense in the financial year -3,616 -3,867

Taxes based on non-deductible expenses (-) / tax-free income (+) -609 -620

Effect of other tax rates applicable to domestic and foreign operating subsidiaries 1,583 1,781

Income tax relating to other reporting periods 467 -289

Changes in tax effects from temporary differences and tax losses for which no deferred tax 
assets were recognised (-) / Capitalisation of deferred tax in financial year on loss carry-for-
ward from previous year for which no deferred tax was recognised in the previous year (+) -248 -1,022

Other -699 228

Taxes on income -3,122 -3,789

35	 Consolidated net income	 2013: EUR’000	 8,023	

		  2012: EUR’000	 8,274

36	 Net loss/income attributable to non-controlling interests	 2013: EUR’000	 -2

		  2012: EUR’000	 -12
	

34
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Other information

This item relates to non-controlling interests in Nord-Soft EDV Unternehmensberatung GmbH and Nord-Soft Datenservice GmbH, 
both of which have their registered offices in Germany.

37	 Consolidated net income after non-controlling interests	 2013: EUR’000	 8,021	

		  2012: EUR’000	 8,262

38	 Earnings per share (basic/diluted)
Basic/diluted earnings per share are calculated on the basis of the following data:

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Earnings

Basis for basic/diluted earnings per share  
(net income for the period attributable to owners of the parent)  8,021 8,2621)

Number of shares 2013 2012

Weighted average number of shares for determination of basic/diluted earnings per share 14,251,314 14,251,314

Basic earnings per share in EUR 0.56 0.581)

1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised

Diluted earnings per share equal basic earnings per share as no dilutive effects materialised in the year under review.

IV.  Other information

Contingent liabilities 

Guarantees and assumed liabilities 
OVB Holding AG and some of its subsidiaries have given guarantees and assumed liabilities on behalf of financial advisors in the 
ordinary course of business. The associated risks are recognised in “Other provisions” to the extent that they give rise to obligations 
whose value can be reliably estimated. Guarantees and assumed liabilities to third parties total EUR 3,015 thousand as of the report-
ing date (previous year: EUR 3,542 thousand).

Litigation risk	
Some group companies are currently involved in various legal disputes arising from the ordinary course of business, primarily in 
connection with the settlement of accounts for brokerage services provided by financial advisors.

Management holds the view that contingent liabilities arising from such legal disputes are adequately covered by provisions and 
that no material effects on the assets and liabilities of the Group will result beyond that.

Average number of employees 
In the year under review, the Group employed an average of 434 (previous year: 438) commercial staff of which 43 (previous year: 47) 
worked in a managerial capacity.

Management Board and Supervisory Board 

Members of the Executive Board of OVB Holding AG:

n	 Michael Rentmeister, Chairman 

n	 Oskar Heitz, Executive Board Member for Finance and Administration

n	 Mario Freis, Executive Board Member for International Sales

37
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Members of the Supervisory Board of OVB Holding AG:

n	 �Michael Johnigk, (Chairman of the Supervisory Board); Member of the Executive Boards of Deutscher Ring Krankenver-
sicherungsverein a.G., Hamburg; SIGNAL Krankenversicherung a. G., Dortmund; IDUNA Vereinigte Lebensversicherung aG 
für Handwerk, Handel und Gewerbe, Hamburg; SIGNAL Unfallversicherung a. G., Dortmund; SIGNAL IDUNA Allgemeine 
Versicherung AG, Dortmund; SIGNAL IDUNA Holding AG, Dortmund 

n	 �Dr. Thomas A. Lange, (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 21 June 2013); Chairman of the Executive Board of 
NATIONAL-BANK AG, Essen  

n	 �Christian Graf von Bassewitz, (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board until 21 June 2013), Banker (ret.)

n	 �Jan De Meulder, Chairman of the Executive Boards of Basler Lebensversicherungs-AG, Hamburg and Basler Sachversicherungs-AG, 
Bad Homburg; General Representative of Basler Leben AG Direktion für Deutschland and Basler Versicherung AG Direktion für 
Deutschland, Bad Homburg; Managing Director of Basler Saturn Management B.V. in its capacity as general partner of Basler 
Versicherung Beteiligungen B.V. & Co.KG, Hamburg; Member of the Corporate Executive Committee of Baloise Group, Basel, 
Switzerland

n	 �Dr. Frank Grund, (Member of the Supervisory Board until 21 June 2013); former Chairman of the Executive Boards of Basler 
Versicherungen, Bad Homburg; Deutscher Ring Lebensversicherung-AG, Hamburg; Deutscher Ring Sachversicherungs-AG, 
Hamburg (until 31 December 2012) 

n	 �Markus Jost, (Member of the Supervisory Board since 21 June 2013); Member of the Executive Boards of Basler Securitas Ver-
sicherungs-AG, Bad Homburg; Basler Lebensversicherungs-AG, Hamburg; Basler Sachversicherungs-AG, Hamburg; Managing 
Director of Basler Saturn Management B.V. in its capacity as general partner of Basler Versicherung Beteiligungen B.V. & 
Co.KG, Hamburg

n	 �Wilfried Kempchen, businessman (ret.)

n	 �Winfried Spies, Chairman of the Executive Boards of Generali Versicherung AG, Munich; Generali Lebensversicherung AG, 
Munich; Generali Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs AG, Munich

Remuneration of Supervisory Board and Executive Board
Remuneration of the Supervisory Board was EUR 77 thousand in the year under review (previous year: EUR 77 thousand).

The members of the Executive Board of OVB Holding AG received the following remuneration:

in EUR’000 Michael Rentmeister Oskar Heitz Mario Freis

Fixed remuneration 547 (2012: 544) 353 (2012: 348) 272 (2012: 246) 

Variable remuneration 377 (2012: 154) 146 (2012: 128)     123 (2012: 92)

Total remuneration 924 (2012: 698) 499 (2012: 476) 395 (2012: 338) 

Variable remuneration of Executive Board members is based on individual targets defined for the financial year.

No remuneration was paid upon termination of an employment relationship in accordance with IAS 24.17(d). Long-term benefits 
were granted in the amount of EUR 344 thousand (previous year: EUR 112 thousand) in the year under report. No share-based pay-
ments were made. 

Pension commitments of OVB Holding AG to a former member of management come to EUR 651 thousand as of the reporting 
date (previous year: EUR 593 thousand). No pension benefits were paid in the year under review.

Consulting expenses and audit costs
“Legal, financial statement and consulting expenses” include the fee of the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Düsseldorf, in 
the total amount of EUR 368 thousand (previous year: EUR 367 thousand). The auditor's fees comprise the following items in the 
2013 financial year: 

in EUR’000 2013 2012

Audit services 274 280

Other certifications and assessments 94 87

Tax consulting services 0 0

Other services 0 0



86
Notes

OVB Holding AG

Other information

Significant events after the reporting date
There have been no reportable significant events after the reporting date.

Related-party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries to be regarded as related parties were eliminated as intra-group transac-
tions through consolidation and are not discussed in these notes.

Principal shareholders as of 31 December 2013 are companies of:

n	 the Signal Iduna Group

n	 the Baloise Group

n	 the Generali Group.

The Signal Iduna Group represents a horizontal group (“Gleichordnungsvertragskonzern”). Its parent companies are:  

n	 SIGNAL Krankenversicherung a.G., Dortmund  

n	 IDUNA  Vereinigte Lebensversicherung aG für Handwerk, Handel und Gewerbe, Hamburg  

n	 SIGNAL Unfallversicherung a.G., Dortmund  

n	 Deutscher Ring Krankenversicherungsverein a.G., Hamburg. 

As of 31 December 2013 IDUNA Vereinigte Lebensversicherung aG für Handwerk, Handel und Gewerbe held shares in OVB Hold-
ing AG carrying 31.48 per cent of the voting rights. Balance Vermittlungs- und Beteiligungs-AG, part of the horizontal group, 
held shares in OVB Holding AG carrying 17.54 per cent of the voting rights as of 31 December 2013. Deutscher Ring Krankenver-
sicherungsverein a.G. held shares in OVB Holding AG carrying 3.74 per cent of the voting rights as of 31 December 2013.

As of 31 December 2013 Deutscher Ring Beteiligungsholding GmbH held shares in OVB Holding AG carrying 32.57 per cent of the 
voting rights. This company is a group company of the Baloise Group, whose parent is Bâloise Holding AG.

As of 31 December 2013 Generali Lebensversicherung AG held shares in OVB Holding AG carrying 11.48 per cent of the voting rights. 
This company is a group company of the Generali Group, whose parent is Generali Deutschland Holding AG.

Brokerage expenses include commission expense for members of key management personnel in the amount of EUR 10 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 10 thousand).

As of the reporting date, receivables from members of key management personnel amount to EUR 2 thousand (previous year:  
EUR 1 thousand) and liabilities to members of key management personnel amount to EUR 10 thousand (previous year: EUR 2 thou-
sand).

The German subsidiary OVB Vermögensberatung AG leased office space in financial year 2012 which is the property of a close 
relative of a Supervisory Board member. Lease payments (including incidental rental costs) correspond to market conditions and 
amount to EUR 34 thousand annually. Of this total amount, EUR 30 thousand (previous year: EUR 30 thousand) are rent and EUR  
4 thousand are incidental rental costs. 

OVB has concluded contracts governing the brokerage of financial products with related parties belonging to the SIGNAL IDUNA 
Group, the Baloise Group and the Generali Group.

From contracts with companies of the SIGNAL IDUNA Group, sales were generated in the amount of EUR 12,447 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 7,977 thousand), or total sales commission in the amount of EUR 18,461 thousand (previous year: EUR 14,053 
thousand), principally in the Germany segment. 

As of the reporting date, receivables from companies of the SIGNAL IDUNA Group come to EUR 660 thousand (previous year:  
EUR 714 thousand) and corresponding liabilities amount to EUR 0 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand).    

The item „Securities and other investments“ (note 9) includes securities of the Signal IDUNA Group in the amount of EUR 1,250 
thousand (previous year: EUR 1,334 thousand) and of Bâloise Holding AG in the amount of EUR 657 thousand (previous year:  
EUR 668 thousand). 

Sales from contracts with companies of the Baloise Group in the amount of EUR 20,466 thousand (previous year: EUR 21,682 
thousand), or total sales commission in the amount of EUR 29,909 thousand (previous year: EUR 31,825 thousand), are essentially 
generated in the Germany segment. 

As of the reporting date, receivables from companies of the Baloise Group come to EUR 3,300 thousand (previous year: EUR  
3,784 thousand) and corresponding liabilities amount to EUR 0 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand).  

Sales generated under contracts with companies of the Generali Group in the amount of EUR 33,081 thousand (previous year:  
EUR 33,355 thousand), or total sales commission in the amount of EUR 34,951 thousand (previous year: EUR 35,619 thousand), 
essentially involve the Germany and Central and Eastern Europe segments.
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As of the reporting date, receivables from companies of the Generali Group come to EUR 3,341 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,927 
thousand) and corresponding liabilities amount to EUR 0 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand).  

The terms and conditions of brokerage contracts concluded with related parties are similar to the terms and conditions of 
 contracts OVB has concluded with suppliers of fi nancial products that are not related parties.

D&O insurance with coverage of EUR 20,000 thousand per insured event has been taken out for the members of the Executive 
Board and the Supervisory Board.

The outstanding items at the end of the fi nancial year are not secured, do not bear interest and are settled by payment. No 
 guarantees are given on account of receivables from or liabilities to related parties.

OVB Holding AG has reported on the contract relationships with companies of the SIGNAL IDUNA Group in fi nancial year 2013 
and in the previous years in accordance with Section 312 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act). In its audit report, the auditor has 
provided the following statement: 

“After due examination and assessment, we confi rm that 

1. the factual disclosures contained in the report are correct,

2. the consideration paid by the company for the transactions listed in the report was not unreasonably high,

3.  no circumstances suggest a materially different assessment from the executive board’s assessment with respect to 
the measures listed in the report.”

Statement pursuant to Section 161 AktG
The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of OVB Holding AG have issued the statement required under Section 161 AktG 
(German Stock Corporation Act) for 2013 and made the statement permanently available to the shareholders on the website of 
OVB Holding AG (www.ovb.ag).

Statement pursuant to Section 37v WpHG
The fi nancial statements constitute an annual fi nancial report within the meaning of the German Transparency Directive Imple-
mentation Act (“Transparenzrichtlinie-Umsetzungsgesetz”) of 22 December 2011 (Section 37v WpHG – German Securities Trading Act). 

Responsibility statement 
To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated fi nancial statements 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, fi nancial position and profi t or loss of the Group, and the consolidated manage-
ment report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together 
with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of the Group.

Cologne, February 26, 2014

Michael Rentmeister Mario FreisOskar Heitz
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“ I cooperate with a reliable partner who pursues a premium-select 
strategy and counts on a long-term partnership.” 

“ I know that only with attractive quality products and the best service 
will I be able to develop the client potential of OVB.” 

“ I take advantage of OVB's fair and comprehensive fi nancial advisory 
service which leads to high client satisfaction. This and its economic 
strength make OVB a particularly low-risk and competitive distribution 
partner for me.”

“What does it mean for me 
to be a product partner of OVB?”
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Auditor’s report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by OVB Holding AG, Cologne – comprising the 
statement of financial position, the income statement, the 
statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 
changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements –, together with 
the consolidated management report for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2013. The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements and the consolidated management 
report in accordance with the IFRS as adopted by the EU 
and the additional requirements of German commercial 
law pursuant to Section 315a (1) HGB (German Commercial 
Code) is the responsibility of the Company‘s Executive Board. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consoli-
dated financial statements and on the consolidated ma-
nagement report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and German 
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial 
statements promulgated by the Institute of Public Audi-
tors in Germany (IDW). Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit such that misstatements and 
violations materially affecting the presentation of the net 
assets, financial position and results of operations in the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework and in the conso-
lidated management report are detected with reasonable 
assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the 
economic and legal environment of the Group and expec-
tations as to possible misstatements are taken into account 
in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness 
of the accounting-related internal control system and the 
evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements and the consolidated management 

report are examined primarily on a test basis within the 
framework of the audit. The audit includes an assessment 
of the annual financial statements of those entities included 
in consolidation, the determination of the entities to be 
included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 
principles used and significant estimates made by the 
Executive Board, as well as an evaluation of the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements and 
the consolidated management report. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit, the con-
solidated financial statements comply with the IFRS as 
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 
German commercial law pursuant to Section 315a (1) HGB 
and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations of the Group in accordance 
with these requirements. The consolidated management 
report is consistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group‘s 
position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks 
of future development.

Düsseldorf, 26 February 2014 

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Christian Sack 

Wirtschaftsprüfer 

(Certified Public Accountant)

ppa. Ralf Scherello 

Wirtschaftsprüfer

(Certified Public Accountant)
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Dear shareholders, 

over the past financial year the Supervisory Board atten-
ded to its duties as defined by law, the Articles of Associa-
tion and the rules of procedure. Within this scope, the 
Supervisory Board gave extensive advice to the Executive 
Board and consistently supervised its activities. As in the 
past years, the Supervisory Board particularly concerned itself 
in detail with the economic and financial development as 
well as with the strategy and planning of the Company 
and the Group. The Supervisory Board was always involved 
in decisions of essential importance.

The Executive Board informed the Supervisory Board 
regularly, comprehensively and in good time about all ma-
terial developments of the Company orally, electronically 
and in writing. Its communication behaviour was always 
appropriate for the respective topics under discussion.

Among the focal points of reporting were 
n	 �the economic and financial development of the Group 

and its segments including budgeting,
n	 �the developments relating to financial advisors and em-

ployees,
n	 �the business and risk strategy,
n	 �other essential concerns of the management of busi-

ness operations, 
n	 �risk management, particularly the material risks the 

OVB Group is exposed to,
n	 �business transactions and events of significance,
n	 �the implementation of the Europe-wide strategy,
n	 �the performances of the operating holdings,
n	 �the annual report of internal audit department and 
n	 �the annual report of the Compliance Manager.

Outside the framework of meetings, the Supervisory Board 
was also informed about important events and transactions 
by the Executive Board on its own initiative. The Chairman 
of the Executive Board informed all members of the Super-
visory Board in personal conversations during the financial 
year about the Company’s economic and financial position 
and recent developments and consulted them for advice if 
necessary.

Reporting by the Executive Board
The Executive Board’s regular reports were provided each 
quarter in writing including extensive documentation, 
analyses and assessments of the developments of profita-
bility and assets and liabilities in comparison with the pre-
vious year and the targets from the Company’s manage-
ment accounting. The Company’s risk position was also 
presented in detail by quarterly updates. 

The risk reports comprised the Group’s current risk 
position in view of profitability and assets and liabilities, 
distribution, structures and products, the market, compe-
tition, regulatory framework as well as operations and 
support.  

  
Supervisory Board meetings and resolutions
The Supervisory Board members convened in altogether 
five Supervisory Board meetings in financial year 2013,  
two of which were attended by all of the members. No 
Supervisory Board member attended less than half of the 
meetings. However, two meetings could not be attended 
by one member of the Supervisory Board respectively and 
one meeting could not be attended by two members of the 
Supervisory Board. Insofar as necessary between the meetings, 
resolutions were made by way of circulation procedure. 

Preparatory documents were provided to the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board for all of its meetings with 
sufficient time in advance. Quarterly reporting notwith-
standing, the principle is observed that all documents 
must be submitted at least two weeks prior to the date of 
the meeting. In exceptional, duly justified cases, e.g. on 
account of update requirements, further documentation 
may be submitted at a later date. 

At its meetings, the Supervisory Board particularly 
discussed the following topics in detail and passed corre-
sponding resolutions if necessary:

Michael Johnigk, Chairman of the Supervisory
Board, OVB Holding AG
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Accounts review meeting on 22 March 2013
This meeting focused on the separate and consolidated 
financial statements 2012 and the dividend proposal. Another 
item on the agenda was the executive Board’s report on re-
lationships with affiliated companies. Upon the recommen-
dation of the Audit Committee and after prior discussion 
with the auditor and the Board’s own diligent examination, 
the Supervisory Board approved the separate and consoli-
dated financial statements for the 2012 financial year. This 
was already subject of detailed reporting in the Annual 
Report on the previous financial year. The Supervisory Board 
also concerned itself with the advancement of the Executive 
Board remuneration system, based on a report given by the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and in consulta-
tion of an external remuneration expert. Upon the recom-
mendation of the preparatory committee, the resolution was 
passed to incorporate an independent and customary long-
term component in the form of a bonus account system into 
the variable Executive Board remuneration. The Supervisory 
Board also adopted the agenda for the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting on 21 June 2013 including the resolution 
proposals.

Meetings held on 21 June 2013
Directly prior to the beginning of the Annual General Meeting 
on 21 June 2013, the members of the Supervisory Board con-
vened for a regular meeting in full session, focusing on the 
Executive Board’s report on the situation of the Company. 

In the inaugural Supervisory Board meeting held im-
mediately after the Company’s Annual General Meeting, 
the Supervisory Board conducted the elections of the 
Chairman and the Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board as well as of the members of the Audit Committee 
and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

Meeting of 11 September 2013
In the Supervisory Board meeting held on 11 September 
2013, the Executive Board reported again on the current 
situation of the Group on the basis of the distribution and 
financial analysis prepared as of 30 June 2013. Discussions 
emphasized the corporate strategy of OVB Holding AG for 
mergers & acquisitions prepared by the Executive Board. 
The Company as the Group’s management holding wants 
to seize the strategic opportunities that become available 
in a consolidating industry. As a result of extensive analysis, 

guidelines, rules and processes were developed for applica-
tion in future M&A projects. The Supervisory Board gave  
its approval to the strategy concept after intense debate. 
Another subject of discussion was an intensified monitor-
ing of the Russian market, considered by OVB a market of 
the future with considerable potential if general conditions 
are convenient. It was also noted that the next efficiency 
review for the purpose of No. 5.6 of the German Corporate 
Governance Code would only be carried out in financial 
year 2014 after a review had been conducted annually over 
the past years. As the corporate supervisory body has con-
sisted of new members to one third since June 2013, an effi-
ciency review did not seem to make much sense in the year 
under review.

Meeting of 4 December 2013
In the meeting held on 4 December 2013, the Executive Board 
gave an in-depth report on the situation of the Company as 
well as the state of the implementation of the key measures 
presented in the June meeting of the previous year. Within 
the scope of the key measure “IT support”, the present state 
of the existing IT structure was explained to the Supervisory 
Board based on a written analysis. This explanation was fol-
lowed by a presentation of the options for a modernisation  
of the IT structure in the sense of best practice. Up to now 
OVB’s financial advisors e.g. cannot access a single tool for 
client analysis but are required to research potential gaps in 
provision by perusing various systems. In addition to that, the 
comprehensive, cross-thematic advice cannot be based on  
IT support yet. In order to justify OVB’s claim of becoming the 
leading system distributor of financial services in Europe in 
the medium term, capital expenditures for a technical plat-
form are required, especially in the field of IT support, which 
can serve as the basis of a rule-oriented, comprehensive and 
cross-thematic advisory and sales process. After thorough 
discussion, the Supervisory Board noted the presented 
options with approval. Other focal points of debate were 
the presented budget 2014 and the multi-year planning 
derived from it. 

On the committees
The Supervisory Board has established two permanent 
committees for the support of its own work: the Audit 
Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.
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The Supervisory Board is informed in full session about the 
topics of discussion and the outcome of the committee 
meetings in good time, in the next Supervisory Board meet-
ing at the latest. The committee members are presented in  
the following overview:  

Composition of the Supervisory Board committees 

Audit Committee

Dr. Thomas Lange (Chairman)

Michael Johnigk 
Markus Jost 
Jan De Meulder

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Jan De Meulder (Chairman)* 

Michael Johnigk

*interim Chairman Markus Jost

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee held four regular meetings in the 
year 2013. Three additional conference calls were conducted. 
The meetings held in March and in December were also 
attended by the auditor for reporting purposes. For selected 
topics, several executives of the respective divisions were 
consulted as well.  

Among other topics, the committee addressed
n	 �the monitoring of the accounting process,
n	 �the effectiveness of the internal control system,
n	 �the monitoring of risk management,
n	 �the results of the internal audit process and 
n	 �the audit, particularly the issue of auditor  

independence.

The Audit Committee discussed the half-year and quarterly 
financial reports of the 2013 financial year in detail prior to 
their respective publication. 

Prior to the Supervisory Board’s accounts review on  
22 March 2013 and in preparation of the decisions to be 
made in full session, the Audit Committee focused on the 
separate and the consolidated financial statements of OVB 
Holding AG, the management reports, the audit reports 
prepared by the auditor and the Executive Board’s proposal 

for the appropriation of retained earnings. The auditor 
gave a detailed report on the findings of the audits con-
ducted and was available to the committee members for 
further questions. 

The Audit Committee also prepared the Supervisory 
Board’s proposal for the election of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Düs-
seldorf, as auditor for financial year 2013 to the sharehold-
ers prior to the Annual General Meeting.

The Audit Committee had first obtained the required 
declaration of auditor independence and convinced itself 
of the qualification of the proposed auditor. 

In its declaration of auditor independence to the Audit 
Committee, PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft made clear that there 
were no grounds for concern about the auditor’s impartiality. 
After the election by the General Meeting of shareholders 
in June 2013, the auditor was commissioned with the audit 
of the separate and consolidated financial statements 2013 
as well as with the review of the half-year and quarterly 
financial reports by the Supervisory Board; a corresponding 
agreement was signed. Moreover, the written report on the 
internal audit for the year 2012 was also explained to the 
committee members. 

In the committee meeting of 11 September 2013, the 
head of the internal audit department explained the writ-
ten internal audit report for the first half-year 2013 to the 
committee members. The Group’s risk position was also 
presented to the committee on the basis of the quarterly 
risk management report as of 30 June 2013. 

In its meeting held on 4 December 2013, the Audit 
Committee obtained information from the Group’s Chief 
Compliance Manager about the Group’s compliance activi-
ties and their advancement in the year under review on the 
basis of the compliance report prepared as of the end of 
November 2013. Furthermore, the committee members 
debated the procedure and the focal points of the 2013 
audit after discussion with the auditor elected by the General 
Meeting of shareholders. 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee, made up 
of two members, suggests suitable candidates to the Su-
pervisory Board for its election proposals to the Annual 
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General Meeting or for potential requests for the appoint-
ment of Supervisory Board members by court order. The 
committee also makes suggestions for the appointment  
to the Executive Board and recommendations on the 
structure and amounts of Executive Board remuneration  
in preparation of the decisions made in full session. The 
committee held two meetings in the year under review. 
Both members saw to a close and regular exchange of 
views outside the framework of sessions as well.

The committee members closely examined the previous 
system for the remuneration of the Executive Board in the 
year under review. After consultation of an external remu-
neration expert, the committee made suggestions for an 
adjustment to the Supervisory Board, taking better account 
of the sustained performance of the OVB Group and accom-
modating the Group’s strategic development.

Details of the Executive Board remuneration system in 
force as of 1 January 2013 are presented in the remuneration 
report for 2013. This report is part of the 2013 Annual Report 
of OVB Holding AG. 

Corporate governance and declaration of conformity
The implementation of the recommendations of the German 
Corporate Governance Code by OVB and the general devel-
opment of the standards of corporate governance are con-
stantly monitored by the Supervisory Board. In accordance 
with No. 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code, 
the Executive Board reports, also on behalf of the Supervisory 
Board, on corporate governance as it is practised at OVB. This 
report is released on the Company’s website and in the Annual 
Report together with the statement on corporate governance. 
After full-session discussion, as of 22 March 2013 the Supervi-
sory Board and the Executive Board jointly released the annual 
statement of conformity with the recommendations of the 
German Corporate Governance Code in its version of 15 May 
2012, according to Section 161 (1) AktG.

The Supervisory Board concerned itself thoroughly 
with the amendment to the German Corporate Govern-
ance Code in the year under review – the version of 13 May 
2013, released in the Federal Gazette on 10 June 2013 – and 
released another declaration of conformity during the 
financial year, on 26 July 2013, with respect to the effective 
version of the Code. Both declarations of conformity are 
permanently available on the Company’s website. 

Audit of separate and consolidated financial statements 2013
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell
schaft, Düsseldorf, has audited the separate financial state-
ments as of 31 December 2013, prepared by the Executive 
Board in accordance with the provisions of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) and the supplementary provisions 
of the German Stock Corporation Act, and the management 
report of OVB Holding AG for financial year 2013. The auditor 
issued an unqualified audit opinion. The consolidated 
financial statements of OVB Holding AG as of 31 December 
2013 and the consolidated management report for financial 
year 2013 were prepared in accordance with the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable  
in the European Union, pursuant to Section 315a HGB. The 
auditor issued an unqualified audit opinion for the consoli-
dated financial statements and the consolidated manage-
ment report as well. The auditor also confirmed the effi-
ciency of the internal control system and ascertained that 
the early warning system for risks implemented by the 
Executive Board is suited for the early identification of 
developments that might jeopardise the Company’s 
continued existence.    

The financial statements and management reports as 
well as the audit reports were discussed in detail in the 
respective meetings of the Audit Committee and the Super-
visory Board on 20 March 2014. The auditor elected by the 
Annual General Meeting on 21 June 2013, Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Düsseldorf, was also present as the corresponding items on 
the agenda were discussed and reported in detail on the 
process and the key findings of the audit, in addition to the 
written reports that had been received by the Supervisory 
Board in good time prior to the meetings. The auditor also 
informed about the findings with respect to the internal con-
trol and risk management system relating to the accounting 
process and was available to the members’ queries.

The Audit Committee informed the Supervisory Board in 
its subsequent full-session meeting about the committee’s 
preliminary review of the separate financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements. After its own review and 
in-depth discussion of the separate financial statements and 
the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Exec-
utive Board, the management report and the consolidated 
management report, the Supervisory Board agreed with the 
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auditor’s findings, thus following the recommendation of 
the Audit Committee, and approved the separate financial 
statements and the consolidated financial statements. The 
2013 financial statements are thus adopted in accordance 
with Section 172 sentence 1 AktG. Having conducted its own 
review, the Supervisory Board also assented to the Executive 
Board’s proposal for the appropriation of retained earnings 
and the payment of a dividend of Euro 0.55 per share. 

The Executive Board’s report on relationships with affili-
ated companies was provided to the Supervisory Board to-
gether with the corresponding audit report prepared by the 
auditor. In its audit report, the auditor has made the follow-
ing statement: 

“After our due examination and assessment, we confirm 
that
1.	� the factual disclosures contained in the report are 

correct,
2.	� the consideration paid by the company for the trans

actions listed in the report was not unreasonably high,
3.	� no circumstances suggest a materially different assess-

ment from the Executive Board’s assessment with respect 
to the measures listed in the report.”  

 
The Supervisory Board has reviewed the Executive Board’s 
report on relationships with affiliated companies and the 
corresponding audit report prepared by the auditor and 
approves of the auditor’s findings. After concluding its own 
review, the Supervisory Board states that there were no 
objections to the Executive Board’s concluding statement 
of its report on relationships with affiliated companies.

Personnel changes to Supervisory Board and Executive 
Board 
Upon conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of 21 June 
2013, the terms of all Supervisory Board members expired. 
The election proposals prepared by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee were each approved by a large 
majority of the shareholders in attendance. Accordingly 
Michael Johnigk, Wilfried Kempchen, Jan De Meulder and 
Winfried Spies were confirmed in their positions on the 
Board. Markus Jost, Member of the Executive Board of 
Basler Securitas Versicherungs-AG, Bad Homburg; Basler 
Lebensversicherungs-AG, Hamburg; Basler Sachversiche
rungs-AG, Bad Homburg; Managing Director of Basler Sat-

urn Management B.V. in its capacity as general partner of 
Basler Versicherung Beteiligungen B.V. & Co. KG, Hamburg, 
and Dr. Thomas A. Lange, Chairman of the Executive Board 
of NATIONAL-BANK AG, Essen, were newly elected to the 
Supervisory Board. In the inaugural Supervisory Board 
meeting held that same day, Michael Johnigk was elected 
Chairman and Dr. Thomas A. Lange was elected Deputy 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

Furthermore, Dr. Thomas A. Lange was elected Chair-
man of the Audit Committee and Jan De Meulder was 
elected Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. In place of Jan De Meulder, who was absent 
due to illness, Markus Jost was elected interim Chairman 
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee on  
4 December 2013. The Supervisory Board expresses its 
thanks to former members Christian Graf von Bassewitz 
and Dr. Frank Grund, who retired from the Supervisory 
Board in the year under review, for the good teamwork 
and their commitment over many years.

Conflicts of interest and their management 
No own conflicts of interest were either identified or 
announced by any of the members of Executive Board  
or Supervisory Board.

There were no indications of conflicts of interest of 
Executive Board or Supervisory Board members subject to 
immediate disclosure to the Supervisory Board and infor-
mation of the General Meeting of shareholders.

The Supervisory Board thanks the members of the 
Executive Board, the management teams and executives  
of the holdings and all financial advisors and employees of 
the OVB Group throughout Europe for their performances 
in the 2013 financial year. 

Cologne, 20 March 2014

On behalf of the Supervisory Board 

Michael Johnigk
Chairman
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Practised corporate governance is of great significance to 
OVB. It strengthens the confidence of investors, financial 
markets, business partners, financial advisors, employees 
and the general public in the Company’s management 
and supervision and represents an essential cornerstone 
of sustained business success. Executive Board and Super-
visory Board feel committed to safeguard the Company’s 
existence and a sustained increase in shareholder value 
through responsible corporate management with a long-
term horizon. 

In the following chapter, the Executive Board reports – 
also on behalf of the Supervisory Board – on corporate gover-
nance at OVB Holding AG in accordance with No. 3.10 of the 
German Corporate Governance Code. The chapter includes 
the statement on corporate governance pursuant to Section 
289a HGB (German Commercial Code) as well as the remu-
neration report pursuant to Section 314 (1) no. 6 HGB.

Statement on corporate governance 

The statement on corporate governance is part of the 
management report.

Working methods of Executive Board and Supervisory Board
In accordance with the statutory provisions for a German 
stock corporation, OVB Holding AG has a dual board system 
consisting of Executive Board and Supervisory Board. The 
third corporate body is the General Meeting of shareholders. 
Executive Board and Supervisory Board cooperate closely 
for the benefit of the Company and maintain an intensive 
and open dialogue on a regular basis.   

Direction and management – the Executive Board
The Executive Board of OVB Holding AG directs the Com-
pany and the Group managed by the Company on its own 
authority. The Board assumes its management tasks, par-
ticularly including corporate planning, the Group’s strategic 
orientation and its control and supervision as well as the 
Group’s financing as a corporate body. Overall responsibility 
of all Executive Board members notwithstanding, the 
individual Board members manage the responsibilities 
assigned to them within the scope of Executive Board 
resolutions on their own authority. They work together as 

colleagues and inform one another constantly about the 
measures and transactions of relevance in their respective 
areas of responsibility.

The Executive Board’s work is defined in detail by the 
rules of procedure adopted by the Supervisory Board which 
also determines the topics that are subject to the Executive 
Board’s decision in full session and other formalities for the 
Executive Board’s resolutions. The specific scope and con-
tent of the areas of responsibility assigned to the members 
of the Executive Board derives from a distribution-of-business 
plan which is part of the rules of procedure. 

The Executive Board consults the Supervisory Board 
on the Company’s strategic orientation in detail and 
discusses the strategy and its implementation with the 
Supervisory Board in regular intervals. The Executive Board 
reports to the Supervisory Board on all aspects of relevance 
to the Company relating to business development, assets 
and liabilities, financial position and profit/loss, planning 
and the achievement of goals, risk position and risk manage-
ment regularly, timely and comprehensively. Deviations  
of the course of business from the scheduled plans and 
targets are discussed and explained within this framework. 
The Executive Board’s regular and in-depth reports in the 
meetings of the Supervisory Board and the Audit Commit-
tee also include the subject of compliance, i.e. measures 
for the observance of statutory provisions and corporate 
guidance. 

Certain Executive Board decisions of special impor-
tance require the approval of the Supervisory Board. Those 
cases are defined in the Executive Board’s rules of procedure 
and relate to e.g. the acquisition of non-current assets 
exceeding a certain amount. The formation, acquisition, 
liquidation and disposal of investments require approval 
as well. 

Executive Board resolutions are adopted in meetings 
held regularly – at least once a month – and chaired gene-
rally by the Chairman of the Executive Board. Furthermore, 
any Board member may call for the convening of a mee-
ting. Insofar as not required otherwise by law, the Executi-
ve Board decides by simple majority. In case of a tie of vo-
tes, the Chairman has the casting vote. 

Compliance as an essential management task of the 
Executive Board
Compliance as a body of measures for the adherence to 
the law and to corporate guidelines as well as their obser-
vance by the Group companies is considered an essential 
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task of management and supervision at OVB. Compliance 
principles were implemented already in financial year 2008. 
Moreover, a compliance management system (CMS) was 
introduced, based on the three pillars “Prevent – recognize 
– respond”, subject to a continuous internal update process 
and constant review in consideration of changing legal 
requirements. With the regular advancement of OVB’s 
CMS, an important contribution is made to the systematic 
expansion of prevention and control measures toward the 
fulfilment of the value proposition OVB has made.    

The paramount goal of OVB’s compliance strategy  
is to prevent or minimize risks from non-adherence to 
applicable law, internal standards and processes by taking 
preventive measures. In the best interest of OVB as well  
as its clients, shareholders and employees, the Executive 
Board is given support in its task of seeing to the adherence 
to statutory provisions and corporate guidelines and crea-
ting consistent standards for all Group companies. With 
the help of the compliance management system, the 
continuous development of OVB’s internal standards of 
conduct and the implementation of internal and external 
requirements are managed and controlled. The entire OVB 
management team has made it their job to bring comp-
liance to life and to be role models in terms of compliance. 

The Chief Compliance Manager is entrusted by the 
Executive Board with the management, monitoring and 
development of the organisation of compliance. He directly 
reports to the Executive Board member responsible for com-
pliance. The management teams of the subsidiaries are 
responsible for compliance with the respective national 
regulations and provisions, supported by their compliance 
officers. Apart from the implementation and observation 
of all Group-internal compliance guidelines, the subsidiaries 
are responsible for reporting, the processing of compliance-
relevant incidents, the continuous analysis of workflows 
with respect to potential compliance risks and the regular 
training and counselling of the employees.

Based on regular reports given by the Chief Compliance 
Manager, the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board’s 
Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board in full session 
are informed about recent developments in this field. The 
compliance reports also find entry into OVB’s risk manage-
ment reporting. Furthermore, the compliance department 
is available to all employees and third parties in all issues of 
compliance for communication and advice. This holds true 
for any information (also anonymous information) relating 
to criminal acts or breaches of compliance regulations as well.

Appointed Members of the Executive Board of OVB 
Holding AG are at present:

Michael Rentmeister
(born 1965, on the Board since 2012,  
appointed until 31 December 2016)
CEO, OVB Holding AG and  
OVB Vermögensberatung AG

Oskar Heitz
(born 1953, on the Board since 2001,  
appointed until 31 December 2015)
CFO and COO, OVB Holding AG and  
OVB Vermögensberatung AG

Mario Freis
(born 1975, on the Board since 2010,  
appointed until 31 December 2015)
CSO, OVB Holding AG

Supervising and advising company management  
– the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board supervises and advises the 
Executive Board, appoints its members and is involved  
in all decisions of essential relevance to the Company. The 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board coordinates the corporate 
body’s work and chairs its meetings. Maintaining constant 
exchange with the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board 
is always informed about the business policy, corporate 
planning and the strategy. The Supervisory Board also 
adopts or rather approves the separate and consolidated 
financial statements as well as the management report 
and consolidated management report of OVB Holding AG 
based on its own examination and in consideration of the 
audit reports provided by the auditor. Within the framework 
of its report to the General Meeting, the Supervisory Board 
informs the shareholders about its work.

According to Section 10 (1) of the Articles of Association, 
the Supervisory Board consists of six members all of whom 
are elected by the General Meeting of shareholders.

The terms of the Supervisory Board members elected 
by the General Meeting expire as of the end of the Annual 
General Meeting in the year 2018 that will decide on the 
formal approval of the actions of the Executive Board and 
the Supervisory Board for financial year 2017. 

The Supervisory Board has established two permanent 
committees to support a focused discussion of topics and 
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the Board’s efficient performance of its tasks, providing 
assistance to the work in full session: the Audit Committee 
and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Within 
their respective scope of responsibility, the committees 
prepare the resolutions of the Supervisory Board as well as 
the topics to be addressed in full session. In each following 
Supervisory Board meeting a report is given on the com-
mittees’ work. Completing the rules of procedure of the 
Supervisory Board, there are separate rules of procedure  
for the Audit Committee and the Nomination and Remu-
neration Committee. 

Audit Committee 
In preparing resolutions for the Supervisory Board, the four 
committee members particularly addresses the diligent 
examination of the separate and consolidated financial 
statements as well as the management report and the 
consolidated management report. The Audit Committee 
also concerns itself with issues of financial accounting, risk 
management and compliance and it examines the required 
independence of the auditor before the audit assignment 
is commissioned. The committee determines the focal points 
of the audit together with the auditor and decides on a fee 
agreement with the auditor. The Audit Committee also 
discusses the quarterly and half-year financial reports with 
the Executive Board prior to their publication. 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
This committee, consisting of the Chairman of the Super
visory Board and one other member, prepares the body of 
work for the Supervisory Board‘s full-session consideration 
and suggests suitable candidates to the Supervisory Board 
for its election proposals to the General Meeting. It also 
concerns itself with the composition of the Executive Board 
and its succession planning as well as with issues relating 
to the remuneration of Executive Board members.

Working methods of Supervisory Board in full session and 
of its committees
The Supervisory Board fulfils its supervisory and advisory 
functions with special diligence. Even outside of the frame-
work of meetings, the Chairmen of Supervisory Board and 
Audit Committee maintain a regular exchange of informa-
tion with the Executive Board. They report on significant 
events in the following Supervisory Board or committee 
meeting at the latest. 

The Supervisory Board regularly reviews its own efficiency. 
This is generally done by way of self-inspection by analysing 
the answers given by Supervisory Board members on a ques-
tionnaire. The analysis and the following discussion in the 
Supervisory Board meeting result in suggestions for the fur-
ther improvement of its work, to be implemented in full ses-
sion by the Supervisory Board and by the committees if appli-
cable. 

Each Supervisory Board member discloses conflicts of 
interest resulting from his involvement to the Supervisory 
Board without delay. The Supervisory Board informs about 
any conflicts of interest and how they have been dealt 
with in its report to the General Meeting of shareholders.

The Supervisory Board of OVB Holding AG currently 
consists of the following members:

Michael Johnigk 
(born 1953, on the Board since 2001, elected until 2018)
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Member of the Executive Boards of Deutscher Ring 
Krankenversicherungsverein a.G., Hamburg; SIGNAL 
Krankenversicherung a.G., Dortmund; IDUNA Vereinigte 
Lebensversicherung aG für Handwerk, Handel und 
Gewerbe, Hamburg; SIGNAL Unfallversicherung a.G., 
Dortmund; SIGNAL IDUNA Allgemeine Versicherung AG, 
Dortmund; SIGNAL IDUNA Holding AG, Dortmund 
 
Dr. Thomas A. Lange   
(born 1963, on the Board since 2013, elected until 2018)
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Chairman of the Executive Board of NATIONAL-BANK Essen

Markus Jost  
(born 1961, on the Board since 2013, elected until 2018)
Member of the Executive Boards of Basler Securitas Ver
sicherungs-AG, Bad Homburg; Basler Lebensversiche-
rungs-AG, Hamburg; Basler Sachversicherungs-AG, Bad 
Homburg; Managing Director of Basler Saturn Manage-
ment B.V. in its capacity as general partner of Basler 
Versicherung Beteiligungen B.V. & Co.KG, Hamburg

Wilfried Kempchen 
(born 1944, on the Board since 2012, elected until 2018)
Businessman (ret.); former Chairman of the Executive 
Board of OVB Holding AG 
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Jan De Meulder
(born 1955, on the Board since 2010, elected until 2018)
Chairman of the Executive Boards of Basler Lebensversiche-
rungs-AG, Hamburg and Basler Sachversicherungs-AG, 
Bad Homburg; General Representative of Basler Leben AG 
Direktion für Deutschland and Basler Versicherung AG 
Direktion für Deutschland, Bad Homburg; Managing Director 
of Basler Saturn Management B.V. in its capacity as general 
partner of Basler Versicherung Beteiligungen B.V. & Co.KG, 
Hamburg; Member of the Corporate Executive Committee 
of Baloise Group, Basel, Switzerland

Winfried Spies 
(born 1953, on the Board since 2010, elected until 2018) Chair
man of the Executive Boards of Generali Versicherung AG, 
Munich, Generali Lebensversicherung AG, Munich, Generali 
Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs AG, Munich

An overview of the members of the Executive Board, the 
Supervisory Board and the Supervisory Board committees  
of OVB Holding AG in financial year 2013 as well as their 
memberships in comparable corporate bodies can be found 
in this Report’s chapter “Corporate Governance” beginning 
on page 103.

Objectives for the composition of the Supervisory Board 
The decision of the Supervisory Board on election propo-
sals to be made to the General Meeting of shareholders 
shall be oriented solely towards the Company’s best inte-
rest. The deciding criteria are the respective candidates’ 
individual expert knowledge and professional experience. 
This also applies for the independent financial expert 
within the meaning of Section 100 (5) AktG (German  
Stock Corporation Act). For the benefit of the Company, 
the Supervisory Board is particularly dependent on its 
members’ specific knowledge and experience relating to 
the Company’s business activity, the distributed products 
and the markets in which the Group companies operate. 
The Supervisory Board members’ in-depth knowledge of 
the peculiarities of the insurance industry as well as of the 
market and the competition enable them to assume the 
statutory task of supervision efficiently and to be available 
to the Executive Board as competent contacts and advisors 
for the Company’s strategic orientation and for issues of 
its future development. This objective with respect to the 
Supervisory Board’s fulfilment of its tasks forbids the defi-

nition of fixed targets for its composition to be reached at 
a certain point in time.

Declaration of conformity 
Section 161 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act) requires the 
Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of listed German 
stock corporations to declare at least once a year if and to what 
extent the German Corporate Governance Code was and is 
complied with and which of the Code’s recommendations 
were or are deviated from, and for what reason.

As of 26 July 2013, Executive Board and Supervisory 
Board of OVB Holding AG have released the following 
declaration of conformity pursuant to Section 161 (1) 
sentence 1 AktG with respect to the recommendations  
of the Government Commission on the German Corporate 
Governance Code in its version of 13 May 2013, released in  
the Federal Gazette of 10 June 2013, as follows:

  
Declaration of conformity  
Section 161 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act) requires 
the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of German 
listed stock corporations to state annually if and to what 
extent the German Corporate Governance Code was, and 
is, complied with and which of the Code’s recommendations 
were, or are, deviated from, and for what reason.

Executive Board and Supervisory Board of OVB Holding 
AG hereby declare in accordance with Section 161 (1) sen-
tence 1 AktG that the recommendations of the Government 
Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code 
in the version of 13 May 2013, released in the Federal Gazette 
on 10 June 2013, have been and will be complied with in the 
future, subject to the following deviations: 

Recommendations:
No. 3.8 (3) GCGC (Directors & Officers (D&O) liability insurance) 
OVB Holding AG has so far not provided for a deductible in 
the D&O liability insurance policy taken out for the members 
of the Supervisory Board. The members of the Supervisory 
Board attend to their duties responsibly and in the Company’s 
best interest. In the opinion shared by Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board, a deductible is not an appropriate means of 
further improving the Board members’ sense of responsibility.

No. 4.1.5 GCGC (consideration of diversity for executive positions) 
According to the recommendations of the German Corporate 
Governance Code, the Executive Board shall pay attention 

»
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to the aspect of diversity in filling executive positions and 
aim for the adequate consideration of women. The Execu-
tive Board of OVB Holding AG pursues the goal of promoting 
women and aims at having more women assume executive 
positions. Women are represented in the executive hierar-
chies of the Group companies both in Germany and abroad. 
However, the Executive Board holds the view that the aspect 
of diversity which includes the consideration of women is 
not a deciding criterion for filling executive positions. For 
the benefit of the Company, the right choice much rather 
depends on management and leadership qualities, expert 
knowledge in response to the respective executive areas 
and responsibilities and professional experience. 

No. 5.1.2 (1) sentence 2 GCGC (consideration of diversity for 
composition of the Executive Board) 
The Supervisory Board of OVB Holding AG does not comply 
with the recommendation to aim for an adequate conside-
ration of women in the composition of the Executive Board 
insofar as the Board feels committed to be guided in the 
composition of the Executive Board in the interest of the 
Company and its shareholders – as it was in the past – 
decisively by the specialist know-how, capabilities and 
experiences of the candidates in their respective fields of 
business and area of responsibility.

No. 5.4.1 (2) GCGC (consideration of women)
In the composition of the Supervisory Board, the aspect of 
diversity is generally taken into account. In the interest of the 
Company, the Supervisory Board will be governed in its elec-
tion proposals to the Annual General Meeting by the know-
ledge, capabilities and expert experience of the candidates to 

be suggested and not by their sex. Fixed targets to be reached 
at a specific point in time have not been determined, however, 
leading in effect to a deviation from No. 5.4.1 (2) GCGC. 

No. 5.4.5 (2) GCGC (appropriate support of the Supervisory 
Board members in training and further education measures)
Supervisory Board members shall be supported adequately 
by the Company in taking measures for training and further 
education required for fulfilling their tasks. The Company 
generally supports the members of the Supervisory Board 
in taking necessary measures for training and further 
education yet has not adopted any formal procedures or 
guidance. Therefore a deviation from No. 5.4.5 (2) GCGC  
is declared preventively.

No. 5.4.6 (1) sentence 2, (2) sentence 2 GCGC (remuneration of 
the Supervisory Board)
Contrary to the recommendation of the Code, the remune-
ration of the members of the Supervisory Board does not 
account for membership or chairmanship of the Supervisory 
Board’s committees. In the opinion shared by the Company’s 
Executive Board and Supervisory Board, the duties performed 
are adequately compensated by the remuneration provided 
for. The performance-based remuneration of the members 
of the Supervisory Board is not particularly oriented toward 
the Company’s sustained development. Supervisory Board 
remuneration was decided by the General Meeting of 
shareholders; the performance-based remuneration is 
governed by Section 14 of the Articles of Association of 
OVB Holding AG and is particularly transparent and appro-
priate in the opinion shared by the Company’s Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board. «

Cologne, 26 July 2013

On behalf of the Executive Board 			   On behalf of the Supervisory Board 

Michael Rentmeister  	 Oskar Heitz	 Mario Freis	 Michael Johnigk 



100
Corporate Governance

OVB Holding AG

Detailed information on this subject is also available  
on our website. All previously released declarations of 
conformity are permanently available on the website.

Additional information on corporate 
governance at OVB Holding AG

Implementation of the German Corporate Governance Code
Executive Board and Supervisory Board of OVB Holding AG 
concerned themselves thoroughly with conformity with 
the provisions of the German Corporate Governance Code 
(GCGC) once again in the year under review. Following 
intense discussion, as of 20 March 2013 and 26 July 2013 
Executive Board and Supervisory Board released declarations 
of conformity pursuant to Section 161 (1) AktG (German 
Stock Corporation Act), reproduced in their entirety on the 
Company’s website at www.ovb.ag/InvestorRelations/Cor-
porateGovernance/Entsprechenserklärungen, presenting 
and explaining the respective deviations from the recom-
mendations and suggestions of the Code.

Directors’ dealings 
In order to guarantee that potential insider information  
is handled in compliance with the law, OVB Holding AG 
keeps an insider directory, including all persons whose access 
to information that might have the quality of insider infor-
mation is indispensable. In addition to that, directors’ dealings 
are recorded and announcements of reportable transactions 
of this kind are released without delay on the Internet at 
www.ovb.ag/InvestorRelations/CorporateGovernance.

Share ownership
As of the reporting date 31 December 2013, no member of 
the Executive Board or the Supervisory Board held directly 
or indirectly more than 1 per cent of the shares issued by 
the Company. Even combined, the members of the Executive 
Board and the Supervisory Board hold an interest of less 
than 1 per cent in the Company's share capital. A disclosure 
of share ownership as required by No. 6.3 GCGC is therefore 
not necessary. 

Corporate Governance of OVB Holding AG on the Internet
www.ovb.ag/ InvestorRelations/CorporateGovernance

n	 Directors´ dealings
n	 �Statements on corporate governance and corporate 

governance reports
n	 Declarations of conformity 
n	 �Executive Board and Supervisory Board of OVB Holding AG
n	 ��Articles of Association of OVB Holding AG
n	 ��Information on the committees

Remuneration report 

The remuneration report is part of the management 
report. 

Executive Board remuneration
The system of Executive Board remuneration implemented 
at OVB aims at giving incentive to a successful manage-
ment of the Company based on sustainability. The deter-
mination of the individual remuneration of the Executive 
Board members is exclusively the responsibility of the 
Supervisory Board, following preparatory work performed 
by its Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

The appropriateness of the amount of remuneration 
is regularly reviewed by the Supervisory Board. The following 
criteria are considered for this review: the Company’s eco-
nomic situation, success and prospects, the individual Board 
member’s respective responsibilities and functions as well 
as personal performance, and a horizontal and vertical 
comparison, taking also into consideration the relation of 
Executive Board remuneration compared to the remuneration 
of next-level executives and the staff as a whole. 

The remuneration of the Executive Board members is 
composed of non-performance-based and performance-
based components. 

 
Fixed remuneration and fringe benefits
The non-performance-based components (50 and 60 per 
cent of the total remuneration of the Chairman of the 
Executive Board and the Board’s other members, respec-
tively) consist of a fixed annual basic remuneration, paid 
monthly in fixed rates. The members of the Executive Board 
are also granted fringe benefits as remuneration in kind; 
these are essentially the usage of company cars and insurance 
premiums. As part of the remuneration these fringe bene-
fits are generally granted to all members of the Executive 
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Board equally; the amounts paid depend on individual 
agreements. 

Performance-based components
The performance-based component (50 and 40 per cent  
of the of the total remuneration of the Chairman of the 
Executive Board and the Board’s other members, respec-
tively) consists of an aggregate bonus of which half is 
determined on the basis of annual bonus targets (annual 
bonus) and half on the basis of long-term bonus criteria 
(variable performance component for sustained success). 
The volume of the variable performance component for 
sustained success is recorded in a bonus account allowing 
for a penalty rule and carried forward to the next year. The 
amount of the annual bonus depends on the extent to which 
certain quantitative targets (such as the performance of 
sales and earnings) and qualitative targets (such as the 
successful realisation of significant projects in terms of cor-
porate strategy) have been achieved. The target figures are 
determined and evaluated each year in advance on the 
basis of the budget prepared by the Executive Board and 
adopted by the Supervisory Board. Quantitative targets  
(70 per cent company-specific targets and 10 per cent indi-
vidual targets) are rated at 80 per cent and qualitative targets 
at 20 per cent. The bandwidth of the target definition (target 
corridor) for the annual bonus ranges from 75 per cent to 
125 per cent relating to quantitative targets and to 150 per 
cent relating to qualitative targets. The annual bonus is 
paid in the following year after the Supervisory Board has 
determined the target achievement levels on the basis of 
the adopted separate financial statements. Criteria of the 
variable performance component with sustained incentive 
effect are the performances of EBIT and sales in the Group. 
The assessment basis of the variable remuneration compo-

nent derives from the moving average of the actuals 
achieved over the past two years and the achievement of 
the target in the current year. The variable remuneration 
component is respectively paid at one third of the balance 
in the following year. If the targets are partly met, the bonus 
is determined on a pro-rata basis. If the target level of  
60 per cent is not reached, the accumulated bonus account 
balance is reduced (penalty rule).

Payment commitments to Executive Board members 
upon premature termination of Executive Board contracts in 
case of a change of control, so-called change-of-control clauses, 
are not included in the contracts of employment. The con-
tracts provide for a severance pay cap in case of premature 
termination of the Executive Board contract without good 
cause, compliant with the recommendation under No. 4.2.3 
of the German Corporate Governance Code. For the determi-
nation of the amount of severance pay, the total remuneration 
for the past financial year and, if applicable, the probable 
total remuneration for the current financial year would be 
taken into account.

There are no pension or benefit commitments or pay-
ments of retirement annuities in favour of or to Executive 
Board members acting in the reporting period by OVB 
Holding AG. In the event of death, the remuneration contin-
ues to be paid to the surviving dependents for a period of  
six months. The pension obligations to a former member of 
management amount to EUR 651 thousand as of the report-
ing date 31 December 2013 (EUR 593 thousand in the year 2012). 

The Executive Board’s total remuneration in 2013 was Euro 
1.8 million. The total remuneration paid to Executive Board 
members covers all remuneration received for services to the 
parent and to subsidiary companies. The following table shows 
the remuneration paid to the individual members of the Ex-
ecutive Board, broken down into the respective components:

Variable remuneration components

in EUR’000
Fixed remuneration 

components Short-term Long-term Fringe benefits Total remuneration

Executive Board 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

Michael Rentmeister 511 509 154 176 0 201 33 38 698 924

Oskar Heitz 321 323 64 63 64 83 27 30 476 499

Mario Freis 236 255 44 63 48 60 10 17 338 395

Total 1,068 1,087 262 302 112 344 70 85 1,512 1,818

In addition to the remuneration listed above, a former member of the Executive Board was paid an amount of EUR 48 thousand in 2012.  
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No loans have been extended to members of the Executive 
Board or the Supervisory Board.

Due to changes in the remuneration system as of 2013, 
prior-year amounts are comparable only to a limited 
extent. The significant increase of the variable remuneration 
components paid to the CEO, who assumed his position 
in 2012, is due to the first opportunity for the fulfilment  
of the decisive condition for granting the remuneration 
according to the previous remuneration system. This does 
not entail an adjustment of the contractually agreed re-
muneration, especially not a significant increase in remu-
neration.

The D&O liability insurance policy taken out for the 
members of the Executive Board includes the statutory 
deductible for Executive Board members.

 
Supervisory Board remuneration 
The Supervisory Board’s remuneration is governed by 
Section 14 of the Articles of Association of OVB Holding AG 
and is composed as follows:	

n	 a fixed annual remuneration
The fixed annual remuneration is Euro 5,000 per Supervisory 
Board member. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

receives 2 times and the Deputy Chairman receives 1.5 times 
that amount.

n	 a variable component 
The variable component consists of a payment of 0.8 per mil 
of the consolidated net income for the year as reported 
in the approved consolidated financial statements of 
OVB Holding AG, issued with an unqualified audit opinion.  

Supervisory Board members are also reimbursed for 
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their 
work. No additional remuneration is paid for committee 
memberships. Based on the consolidated net income for 
the year of Euro 8.0 million, total remuneration (including 
reimbursements) paid to Supervisory Board members in 
the past financial year was roughly EUR 76.0 thousand. 
Based on a consolidated net income of OVB Holding AG in 
the amount of Euro 8.1 million, the previous year’s Super-
visory Board remuneration (including reimbursements) 
had come to roughly EUR 76.7 thousand. In accordance 
with the guidelines, the following fixed and variable com-
ponents were paid to the members of the Supervisory 
Board on a pro-rata-temporis basis:

In addition to the remuneration listed above, a former member of the Supervisory Board was paid an amount of EUR 6 thousand in 2012 (EUR 3.2 thousand as fixed remuneration, 
EUR 2.8 thousand as variable remuneration). 

in EUR’000 Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration Total

Supervisory Board 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

Michael Johnigk, Chairman 10.0 10.0 6.5 6.4 16.6 16.4

Dr. Thomas A. Lange  
(Deputy Chairman since 21 June 2013) 0 4.0 0 3.4 0 7.4

Christian Graf von Bassewitz 
(Deputy Chairman until 21 June 2013) 6.4 3.5 6.5 3.0 13.0 6.5

Dr. Frank Grund 
(member until 21 June 2013) 5.0 2.4 6.5 3.0 11.5 5.4

Markus Jost 
(member since 21 June 2013) 0 2.7 0 3.4 0 6.1

Wilfried Kempchen 2.9 5.0 3.7 6.4 6.6 11.4

Jan De Meulder 5.0 5.0 6.5 6.4 11.5 11.4

Winfried Spies 5.0 5.0 6.5 6.4 11.5 11.4

Total 34.3 37.6 36.2 38.4 70.7 76.0
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Company boards and board memberships

Executive Board	 Memberships of Supervisory Boards and comparable supervisory bodies

Michael Rentmeister
Chairman of the Executive Board; CEO

Responsible for Strategy, General Corporate 
Policies, Auditing, Marketing/Communication, 
Compliance

- ��Chairman of the Administrative Board of OVB 
   Vermögensberatung (Schweiz) AG, Cham, Switzerland; 
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of OVB Allfinanz Slovensko a.s., 

Bratislava, Slovakia;
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of OVB Allfinanz a.s., Prague,  

Czech Republic

Oskar Heitz
Member of the Executive Board;  
CFO and COO

Responsible for Finance, Risk Management, 
IT, Processing, Tax, HR, Legal Affairs, Data 
Protection

Mario Freis
Member of the Executive Board; CSO

Responsible for International Sales, 
European Product Management

- �Member of the Supervisory Board of OVB Allfinanz Slovensko a.s., 
Bratislava, Slovakia

Supervisory Board Memberships of Supervisory Boards and comparable supervisory bodies

Michael Johnigk 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board   
 
Member of the Executive Boards of 
Deutscher Ring Krankenversicherungs- 
verein a.G., Hamburg;
SIGNAL Krankenversicherung a.G., 
Dortmund;
IDUNA Vereinigte Lebensversicherung aG 
für Handwerk, Handel und Gewerbe, 
Hamburg;
SIGNAL Unfallversicherung a.G., Dortmund;
SIGNAL IDUNA Allgemeine Versicherung AG,
Dortmund; SIGNAL IDUNA Holding AG

- �Chairman of the Supervisory Board of OVB Vermögensberatung AG, 
Cologne;

- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of SIGNAL IDUNA 
  Vertriebspartnerservice AG, Dortmund;
- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of SDV Servicepartner der
  Versicherungsmakler AG, Augsburg;
- Member of the Supervisory Board of BCA AG, Bad Homburg 
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Supervisory Board Memberships of Supervisory Boards and comparable supervisory bodies

Dr. Thomas A. Lange  
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
(since 21 June 2013)

Chairman of the Executive Board of 
NATIONAL-BANK AG, Essen  

- �Chairman of the Supervisory Board of DTB – Deutsche Biogas AG,  
Friesoythe (until 30 August 2013);

- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of VALOVIS BANK AG, Essen;
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of HANSAINVEST Hanseatische 

Investment-GmbH, Hamburg;
- Member of the Supervisory Board of OVB Vermögensberatung AG, Cologne

Markus Jost 
Member of the Supervisory Board

Member of the Executive Boards of Basler 
Securitas Versicherungs-AG, Bad Homburg; 
Basler Lebensversicherungs-AG, Hamburg; 
Basler Sachversicherungs-AG, Bad Homburg; 
Managing Director of Basler Saturn Manage-
ment B.V. in its capacity as general partner 
of Basler Versicherung Beteiligungen B.V. & 
Co.KG, Hamburg

- �Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Deutscher Pensionsring AG, 
Hamburg;

- �Member of the Supervisory Board of Deutscher Ring Bausparkasse AG, 
Hamburg;

- �Member of the Supervisory Board of DRMM Maklermanagement AG, 
Hamburg; 

- �Member of the Supervisory Board of ZEUS Vermittlungsgesellschaft mbH, 
Hamburg

- �Member of the Supervisory Board of OVB Vermögensberatung AG, Cologne 
(since 21 June 2013)

Wilfried Kempchen
Member of the Supervisory Board

Businessman, retired; former Chairman of 
the Executive Board of OVB Holding AG

Jan De Meulder 
Member of the Supervisory Board

Chairman of the Executive Boards of Basler 
Lebensversicherungs-AG, Hamburg and Basler 
Sachversicherungs-AG, Bad Homburg; 
General Representative of Basler Leben AG 
Direktion für Deutschland and Basler Versi-
cherung AG Direktion für Deutschland,  
Bad Homburg; Managing Director of Basler 
Saturn Management B.V. in its capacity as 
general partner of Basler Versicherung 
Beteiligungen B.V. & Co.KG, Hamburg; 
Member of the Corporate Executive Com-
mittee of Baloise Group, Basel, Switzerland 

- �Member of the Supervisory Board of Roland-Rechtsschutz- 
  Versicherungs-AG, Cologne
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of OVB Vermögensberatung AG, Cologne 

(since 21 June 2013)
- Member of the Administrative Board of Bâloise Assurances 
  Luxembourg S.A., Bertrange, Luxembourg;
- �Member of the Administrative Board of Bâloise Vie Luxembourg S.A., 

Bertrange, Luxembourg;
- Member of the Administrative Board of Bâloise Insurance N.V.,    
  Antwerp, Belgium;
- Member of the Administrative Board of Noordstarfonds N.V., 
  Antwerp, Belgium;
- Member of the Supervisory Board of Atlantic Union S.A., Athens, Greece
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Supervisory Board Memberships of Supervisory Boards and comparable supervisory bodies

Winfried Spies  
Member of the Supervisory Board

Chairman of the Executive Boards of Generali 
Versicherung AG, Munich; Generali Lebens
versicherung AG, Munich; Generali Beteili-
gungs- und Verwaltungs AG, Munich 

- �Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Volksfürsorge AG 
  Vertriebsgesellschaft für Vorsorge- und Finanzprodukte, Hamburg;
- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Europ Assistance 
  Versicherungs-AG, Munich;
- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Pensionskasse der 
  Angestellten der Thuringia Versicherungs-AG, Munich;
- Member of the Supervisory Board of Generali Deutschland 
  Schadenmanagement GmbH, Cologne;  
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of Generali Deutschland Pensor 

Pensionsfonds AG, Frankfurt;
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of OVB Vermögensberatung AG, Cologne;
- Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Bank1Saar eG, Saarbrücken

Christian Graf von Bassewitz
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
(until 21 June 2013)

Banker, retired; former General Partner  
of Bankhaus Lampe KG 

- �Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Deutscher Ring Kranken-
versicherung a.G., Hamburg;

- Member of the Supervisory Board of Aareal Bank AG, Wiesbaden;
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of Bank für Sozialwirtschaft AG, Cologne;
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of OVB Vermögensberatung AG, 

Cologne (until 21 June 2013);
- Member of the Supervisory Board of Sozietät Chorvs AG; Düsseldorf;
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of SIGNAL IDUNA Holding AG, Dortmund;
- �Member of the Supervisory Board of SIGNAL IDUNA Allgemeine 

Versicherung AG, Dortmund

Dr. Frank Grund
Member of the Supervisory Board
(until 21 June 2013)

Lawyer 

- �Member of the Supervisory Board of OVB Vermögensberatung AG, 
Cologne (until 21 June 2013);

- Member of the Supervisory Board of Roland Rechtsschutz-
  Versicherungs-AG, Cologne (until 30 June 2013)

Supervisory Board Committees

Audit Committee Dr. Thomas A. Lange (Chairman), Michael Johnigk, Markus Jost,  
Jan De Meulder

Nomination and Remuneration Committee Jan De Meulder (Chairman)*, Michael Johnigk

*Interim Chairman: Markus Jost
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Central and Eastern Europe
Unit 2012 2013 Change

Clients (31/12) Number 2.00 m 2.10 m  + 5.0 %

Financial advisors (31/12) Number 3,307 3,247  - 1.8 %

Total sales commission Euro million 121.1 110.5 - 8.8 %

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) Euro million 11.6 10.9  - 5.9 %

EBIT margin1) % 9.6 9.8 + 0.2 %-pts

1) Based on total sales commission

Germany  

Unit 2012 2013 Change

Clients (31/12) Number 652,059 640,093  - 1.8 %

Financial advisors (31/12) Number 1,343 1,356 + 1.0 %

Total sales commission Euro million 66.8 61.3  - 8.1 %

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) Euro million 7.0 6.5  - 7.2 %

EBIT margin1) % 10.5 10.6 + 0.1 %-pts

1) Based on total sales commission

Southern and Western Europe
Unit 2012 2013 Change

Clients (31/12) Number 310,129 329,482  + 6.2 %

Financial advisors (31/12) Number 447 479 + 7.2 %

Total sales commission Euro million 26.8 33.0 + 22.9 %

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)1) Euro million 0.1 1.3 > 100.0 %

EBIT margin2) % 0.0 4.1 + 4.1 %-pts

1) Adjustment due to application of IAS 19 revised 
2) Based on total sales commission
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Greece
OVB Hellas EΠE & ΣIA E.E. 
Athens
www.ovb.gr

Poland
OVB Allfinanz Polska Spółka 
Finansowa Sp. z o.o.
Warsaw
www.ovb.pl

Slovakia
OVB Allfinanz Slovensko a.s.
Bratislava 
www.ovb.sk

Hungary
OVB Vermögensberatung A.P.K. Kft.
Budapest
www.ovb.hu

Ukraine
TOB OVB Allfinanz Ukraine, GmbH 
Kiev
www.ovb.ua

France
OVB Conseils en patrimoine
France Sàrl
Entzheim
www.ovb.fr

Austria
OVB Allfinanzvermittlungs GmbH
Wals/Salzburg
www.ovb.at

Switzerland
OVB Vermögensberatung
(Schweiz) AG · Cham
www.ovb-ag.ch

Czech Republic
OVB Allfinanz, a.s.
Prague
www.ovb.cz

OVB Vermögensberatung AG
Cologne
www.ovb.de

Eurenta Holding GmbH
Köln
www.eurenta.de

Croatia
OVB Allfinanz Croatia d.o.o.
Zagreb
www.ovb.hr

Italy
OVB Consulenza Patrimoniale S.r.l.
Verona
www.ovb.it

Romania
OVB Allfinanz Romania
Broker de Asigurare S.R.L 
Cluj-Napoca
www.ovb.ro

Spain
OVB Allfinanz España S.L.
Madrid
www.ovb.es

Germany
OVB Holding AG 
Cologne
www.ovb.ag


